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ABSTRACT

In 1996 Chicora Foundation conducted
testing at the site of Old Houge, 38JAT2, the
pla.ntaﬁon Lome of Daniel Heywaxd. Heyward, in
addition to ]:Jeing the father of Thomas Heywar&, .,
one of South Carolina's signers of the Declaration of
Independence, was also an extraordinary planter. The
historic record, while clouded i)y time and an absence of
sources, seems to be intimately involved in not only
planting rice, but also milling it. He is also associated
with a cottage industry of woolen textile manufacturing.
The historical record suggests that Daniel He was
fer more interested in his plantaﬁon — and its daily
operation — then in poli‘cics. In fact, itis easy eimugh
to come away with a view of Heyward as a rather crusty
£armer, who forsake the Plan’cer elite. But is this an

accurate view?

During these éarlier investigations, more
information came to light on the “lost” excavations at
Heyward's plantation house by The Charleston Museum
in 1965. Some notes were identified, and the
collections were eventually found. While there was
neither the time nor fu.nclmg to examine this eatlier
collection, its importence was recognized.

Su]:sequent}y, through the auspices of both the
Heyward Foundation and the National Trust for
Historic Preservation, we were provicle& with the
opportunity to examine the 1965 collection and use it
as a basis for better unclerstanc]ing Heywa.rcL his house,
and his life. This stucly reports on the ﬁn&mgﬁ of are-
analysis of these 1985 collections and their
imp].ications.

We found the collection somewhat worse for
the wear of nearly 40 years of benign neglect. Some
materials were miseing, appa:ently conveyed to the
project sponsor or others. Much of the metal was
honlsoly corroded and offered only minimal information.
Many notes of the excavation were lost or had never
been prepared. Pl-lotogmplls, if they ever existed, were

reduced to two faded Polaroid smap shots,

Tl'lrougll careful analymﬁ , however, we were
able to piece together a map of the site and reconstruct
the levels used in the excavations. The notes were wrung
of every bit of useful information t]wy mig]]t provide
about the excavations, and the field observations. And
ﬁnall'y, the a.rﬁ&.cts themselves were re-exarmined.

The story these remains tell — ignoring the
obvious commentary on how a.rc}laeological methods
have clla.nge(l —— guggest that Heywa:d may not have
been as much of a recluse as we i.ma.gined. There is
evidence that Heyward possessed expensive China tea
wares and pa.rl:icipate& in the Eng]mll tea ceremony, that
he set his table with cut crys'tal and stocked 2 wine
cellar, and that he sought to c]isplay his wealth at his
home, ma]zing extensive use of importe& marble pavers
and details. Reconstructing this home reveals that while
it may have started as a modest £arm]muse, it was
re].a.ﬁval‘y quicl‘\'ly expa.ucled into an impressive low
country gentleman's seat.

While the information we can reconstruct is
far from complete — and could certainly be improve:l
upon }Jy additional arc}xaeological st‘udy — we have a
new vision of Daniel Heyward that establishes him
Einnl‘y in the pl.anter elite.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures
List of Tables
Acknowledgments
Introduction

A Historic Synopsis
Daniel Heyward's Earjy ere on James Island
Esfa.yr's}zfng Ol House
Old House During the American Revolution
OMld House in the Ninsteenth Century
Twentieth Century Dezelopments
Summary

The Charleston Museumn Excavations
The History ) .
OH House as Revealed Ly the Bxcavations

The Artifacts and What They Mean
Introduction
A Few Words of Warning
The Kitchen Assemblage at Old House
The Architectural Assemf:’age at Old House
Fumiture Aﬁvﬁ:ﬂt Group
Arms Group Ari‘rfacts
Tobacco Related Arfr:facts
C]of]aing Group Art:facts
Personal Group Arﬁfacts
Activities Group Arfiﬁzcts
Dating the Site
Looking at the Artifact Pattern

Reconstructing Old House
Reconstructing Heywarar’s Lffz

Reconstructing Heyward's Mansion
Summary

Sources Cited

Appendix — Catalog of Old House Astifacts

14
17
21
22

25
28

36
38
38
51
50
56
50
57
57
57
58
59

61
01
02

if

36

61

65

following page 70




LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

. 'The location of Old House in the Ridgeland area

. Oak allée at Old House

. Thomas Heywarcl’s Plat for 500 acres at Old House

. Vicinity of Old House during the American Revolution

. The Old House area during the Civil Wax

. Bolan's ownership of Old House

. Plan of the 1965 excavations at Old House

. Miller's drawing of the Old House sits

. Topographic map of Cld House

Ceramics used }Jy Daniel Heyward in the eighteent]n century

11. Creamware from Old House

12. Pearlware from Qld House

13, Ceramics and container glass from Old House

14. Other Kitchen Group artifacts from Old House

15. Aschitecturs] artifacts from Old House

16. Colono or Native American pipe bowl and iron helt or tack buckle
17. Growth of the Heyward mansion at Old House

18. Artist's reconstruction of Daniel Heyward's Old House about 1820

— .
O N B W=

LIST OF TABLES

Table

. Previously published artifact patterns

2. Artifacts miesing from provenienced bags
3. Major types of datable pottery

4. Vessel forms recovered at Old Houge

5

&

7

=

. Nails recovered from Old House
. Mean ceramic date for Old House
. The artifact pattern at Old House

10
15
19
20
29
30
32

43

50
52
57
62
63

36
38
39

54
58
59




ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciate the support and encouragement
of the Heywa.rcl Foundaticn, who hefpe& make this
project possiue. In particular, we want to thank M.
Richard Ellis, whose unﬂagging enthusiasm — even in
the face of our cleia.ys — sustained the work. In
addition, we want to thank the multitude of additional
Heywm-& Foundation members — all of whom have
been supportive, enthusiastic, and interested not in a
“story,” but in better understanding their ancestor.

We also thank The National Trust for Historie
Preservation, which supported this work through a
Terrence L. Mills Memorial Preservation Services Fund
Grant, administered t]:.roug}:l the Southern Regional
Office of the Trust. In particular, we appreciate the
asgistance of Ms. Sierra Neal, whose patiencs in &aalmg
with our delays was equal to that of the Heywa.rc].
Foundation.

. We must also thank a hest coueagues who
helped us i&enﬁfy both notes and collections. In
particular, Ms. Sharon Bennett and Ms. Mary Giles of
The Chazleston Museum Archives and Library was
generous in aﬂowing us access to collections and the
a}Ji]ity to reproc}uce materials from their collections, Ms.
Martha Zierden, also of The Charleston Museum, was
equally helpful and patience with our requests. Ms.
Sharon Peckrul, Curator at the South Carolina
Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology not only
provi&ecl access to the collection, but also saw to it that
the materials were cata}ogecl and organized in
prepatation for our work. She twice zemoved the
materials from storage so that we could look t]:x:ough
them and have the opportunity to photograph materials
of sPech interest.

We thank Ms. Sarah Ficlz, Historic
Preservation Consultents, who gra.ci.ous}y shared her
research on the neighboring White Hall Plantation and
the life of Thomas Heywa.r&, Je. We also want to thank
Ms. Kerri Barile, a student intern with Chicora, who
prepared the initial analysis in 1999.

Fina.]]y, we want to thank all of those whose
interest in archaeology and concern about the past
?mmotecl them to make sure the site was pteaerved and
that these artifacts were collected. These individuals
include Mr. Harry B. Cooler, Jr., who owned the land
and who cha.ngecl his plans to build a house on the OId
House site once its importance was recognized; Mrs.
Fredrc Pratt-Webel, W}JO funded The Charleston
Museum's excavations; Mr. John Miller, with The
Charleston Museum, who conducted the excavations;
Mr. Milby Burtom, Director of The Charleston
Museum, who recognized the importance of the Old
House site and made its preservation a concern of the
Museum; Mr. J.L. Brentley, the Manager of Cood
Hope Pla.nta.ﬁon, who provicle& lo-gistical assistance to
Miller during the investigations; Fred and two unnamed
boys who I:telpecl Miller in his excavations; and to the
many others who played apart in keeping the Old House
site intact over the years. While it is easy to criticize
these early preservation efforts, without them there is no
doubt that Old House would have been lost.



INTRODUCTION

Fred Powlec].ge, an author and freelance writer,
has commented that:

The Southern coast is different: a
land of incalculable [)iologica.[ energy,
of incornpara.He Bea.uty, of romance
and love and nature’s violenoe; of
mysterious lush  islands  and
serpentine salt marshes (Binswanger

and Charlton 1 994::110).

The Southern historian Peter Coclanis was PEI]JBPE
more succinet, c]escril)ing the area as “this strange and
cerie land of silent, atill rivers and &a.r]z, funereal
swamps” {Coclanis 1993:ix).

Old House, the seat of Daniel Heywarcl clunng
the eiglﬁ:een’ch century, is one of the most signjficant
historical sites in Jasper County. [t is certainly one of
the few pu]:licly accessible sites in an area which seems
overrun with clevelopmenta and private l:m.ntn:l.g
preserves. Yet, in spite of its easy access off SC 462,
one of the main tourist links from 1-95 to Hilton Head
Island, it is largely forgotten. The dirt road and oak
allée are rare[y visited and the site is marked l))r only a
faded South Carolina Highway Historical Marker. And
even this sign is to Old House's most noted son,
Thomas Heyward, Jr., signer of the Declaration of
Inclepenclence, and does mot even mention Daniel
Heywm‘cl, or his p[antation. Stancli.ng on the roadside on
a Lusy summer weekend, one can see a near s’cea&y
atream of cars, almost all with their win&ows rolled up
and their air conditioners on full power, passing i)y Old
House with only an occasional effort to slow down
enough to glj.mpse the sign. This effort is us-uaﬂy
rewarded with a Llaring horn and angry stare at the
offencli.ng party as others rush on to enjoy South
Carolina’s sun, fun, and sand.

Tl:lis, of course, was not al‘ways the case. There
was a time when the traffic on SC 462 — previously
known as SC 170 — was far lighter and access far

more cllfflcul'l:

Bven as late as the 1920s, Old House was
most easily reached from Charleston lay ta];:ing the
Atlantic Coast Railroad to Ridgeland, a trip of slightly
over two hours, with the rail line paralleling US 17 —
the Charleston-Savannah Highway — almost the entire
distance. Once in Ri&gela.ucl it would be necessary for
you to find a local individual with an automobile wiﬂjng
to drive you the rest of the way — west on SC 128
across the railroad ’crﬂ.cks, tllrougll the sma.ll, historic.
community of Grahamville, and through tall pine
woocls, with the Good Hope Hunting Club on your
right, about mid-way to Old House. Although the
names are la:gely forgotten today, at least among the
newer residents and visitors, your journey would take
you tl'u'ougl'l or near tracts with names like Springfiel&,
Sams, C'laplaoarc[ Hill, and Old Store. The Seaboard
Air Line, taking primarily freight, ran parallel to the
Atlantic Coast Line, about siX miles to the east. It
passed through such forgotten stations as Knowles,
Neadun, and Boycl, before crossing what is toclay Euhaw
Cree]a, hut which has often been called Hazard Back
Creck. The intersection of SC 128 and 170 was much
as it is toc].ay, but not as modern. There was a store,
severa) housw, two artesian wel]s, and to the sout]1, the
“Negro” Heyward Church. Visitors cluring this time talk
of two oak averues — one running off SC 170 to the
southeast, and another coming in from west.!

But even this seems simple, compared to the
ordeal of arriving at Old House a hundred years earlier.
Not on.ly did Jasper County not exist, but neither did
any rail connections. The journey from Charleston
would typically require two or three days, depenc!ing on
the route, local condiﬁons, and one's speerl. Crossing

! Genoral Highway and Transportation Map of Jasper
County, South Carolina State Highway Department, 1937;
Map of the Good Hops Club Lands, Beaufort County RMC,
Plat Bock 2, page 16, 1910.
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Bees Creck, yom
m.ight travel

soutl:west, arriving
in Grahamviue, or

take the more
soutllerly route
leading to Old

House, just before
Heywar&'s Bn‘&ge
aver Ha.zarcl Baclz
Creek. On  this
route you'd pass
the Euhaw Chuzch
an. your right as
you traveled south
across Huguenin's
Neck, Deloss
Point, and Boycl's
Neck.?

Then. as Figur 2. Qak allée at Qld Houe from SC 462 looking south toward Euhaw Creek.

i

toclay, you'd notice

the vast marshes that laid open hefore you. The
difference is that then these marshes would be
resplendent in rice, a golden harvest that not only
encou.raged, but seemed to clemand, A.Edcan-Amer_ica.n
slave labor. To&ay the rice field dikes have either been
breached and the land has returned to marsh or the
acreage has been converted to wetlands to promote a
habitat conducive to waterfowl.

You'd also notice forests of pines, primari.ly on
the drier, sandier soiL avenues and stands of live oa.lza,
usua.uy clraped with Spanisl'x moss, and areas of low, wet
woocls, where gum and laay trees dominate. Unc].errstory
trees would include clogwoorls, wax myxﬂe, and yaupon
holly. More so in the past than today, occasional
grassed savannahs mig]at be encountered — evidence of
a previous fire or cultivated field. Much of the diversity
of the area is today lost to planted pines —a staple cIop
tb.roughout the low country.

The topogtaplly of the area would seem flat,
especiauy to anyone from Piedmont. This flatness,

however, is &eceptive since those living in the low

2 Beaufort District, Mills” Atlas, 1825.

country can see “hills” where the elevation may be five
or more feet different from the Bu.rrounding terrain.
There is also a touing effect, as the land is broken by
Eingars of marsh creating inland pemnsu]as or “necks.”
The area also seems to consist of small “islands™ of high
grouncl sepa.ratecl lny low swamps, many of which still
bear evidence of their previous use as rice Felds.
A}Lhaugh in an area of salt water, plantets were able to
dam up inlets and create fresh water impoundmeuts —
auowing them to reclaim inland swamps and create
felds a.long rivers. Old House is situated at the eastern
edge of one such “island,” confined l:xy the Fuhaw Creck
to the nortl:\, sout]:n, and east. There are remmant rice
fields shown on the modem topograpllic map of the area
to the northwest of Old House, between it and Cood
Hope Plantation. Additional $ields are shown to the
southwest of QN House, in the vicinity of old
Preference Plantation. And more are shown to the

south.

Rice eventually passed — the victim of storms
and economic Pressures. Of course scholars such as
Coclanis remind us that the demise of the low country
was broug]:t on ]Jy inherent structural prolo]ems 50
severe that the reaulting economic stagnation, seen as

ea::ly as the [ate antebellum, Blzely accounts for much of

3
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the low country remaining languid even today (Coclanis
1989:111).

Helpiug the failure of rice along, at least in
some small sense, was nature herself. Data from
nineteenth and twentieth century sources reveal a
ﬂuci‘uating, but s'f:ea.c]:y, rise in sea level. Kurtz and
Wagner (1957:8) report a 0.8 foot rise in Charleston,
South Caroline sea levels from 1833 to 1903. Between
1940 and 1950 a sea level dise of 0.34 foot was again
recorded in Charleston. Hicks (1973), nging continuous
‘recording tide gauges, illustrates a net xise of neazly 0.5
foot since the 1920s. While these data do not
clistinguish between sea level rise and land surface
su]:nmergence, there is nevertheless goocl evidence that
the marsh at Old House was likely drier in the
eighteenth century than it is today.

The tidal range, especially in an area like Old
House, also has an effect on d.tin]zi.ng water. The
avajla.laili‘l:y of gzoun&water was of primary importance o
historic settlement and Mathews et al. 'state that,
"groundwater may well be the most important material
economic resource of the Sea [sland Coastal Region"
(Mathews et al. 1980:31). The principal deep water
artesian aqu.ifer is the limestone of Eocene age known
as the Santee Formation. Based on 1880 data this head
was so great that wells in the Beaufort County area were
free ﬂowing at the surface. The two ﬂowing artesian
wells in the immediate area were certai.nly an
inducement to Heyward's settlement. By 1971,
]’JOWBVEf, this aqujfer was so clepletecl that no surface
flowing water was known (Mathews et al. 1980:31-32).

The Southem climate is viewed by many as a
significant ingredient in not only its mystique, but its
very soul. The West Indian novelist V.S. Naipaul
wondered if the summer heat “was a factor in the still
visible degenexacy,” and Fred Hobson, an author and
English professor at the University of North Carolina,
has wondered if the advent of the air conditioner
brought on “the decline of the creative fury of the
Southern writer” (Binswanger and Charlton 1994:115-
116). Certainly we have to wonder what motivated
Daniel Heyward's great grandfather to leave England in
the 1680s for Carolina — at & Hme when a popula:f
English proverh warned, "They who want to die quickly,
go to Carolina,” and 2 German visitor told his readers

4

that "Carolina is in the spring a paradise, in the summer
a hell, end in the autumn a hospital" {quoted in
Merrens and Terry 1984:549).

While it may be meteorologically correct to
assert that the major climatic controls of the area are
the ].a.ti{:ucle, eleva.ﬁon, clista.nce from the ocean, and
location with respect to the averagde tracks of migratory
cyclones (i.e.,hurricanes), this does little 1o help explain
the oppressive heat and humiclif:y of the summer, nor
the cold, Jamp winters. Nevertheless, the generaﬂy mild
climate and long growing season (over 240 days
usnally), is largely zesponsible for the presence of many
southern CTops, such as rice, and later, cotton. It was
also r&;ponsi]:le for the proclucﬁon of oranges, lemons,
limes, and even bananas on the nearby Sea Island

*during the eighteenth century (see Hammond 1884:19;

Kemble 1984:113-114; Rosengarten 1987). By the
nineteenth century the climate was clmnging and it was
apparent to many planters that sul)i:ropica] plants, such
as oranges, could no longer be grown easily. This
cl]matologlcal shift even pus]ne& the date for safe cotton
planting from late March into mid-April.

It is ageinst this lJE.CliC]IOP of the Southem
coast and environment that we conducted our first
examination of Heyward’s Old House Plantation in
1996 — examining the site, conducting a very brief
archaeological survey, and preparing a National Register
nomination for the site. Also involved in this work was
a brief encounter with the 1965 excavations at Old
House conducted by The Chadeston Museum, a
venerable, old organization that scm.g]:x’c to explore a wide
range of a::chaeological questions across the South
Cazolina coast from the 1920s through the late 1960s.

Graciously sponsoxred by the Heyward
Foundation this mitial effort left unanswered a number
of curious questions, many surrcu.n&ing the life and
times of the site’s primary occupant, Daniel Heyward.
Among them: What evidence is there for when the site
was first settled? Is there any evidence of an earkier
house that Heyward mighi: have lived in, while his
mansion was being built? When did the house hurn —
during the American Revolution, during the Civil War,
or during some later time? Did Heyward live like an
aristocratic planter, or like a simple country farmer?
Did Old House's location on the low country frontier




INTRODUCTION

temper the lifmtyle of the mich and famous? And, what
could The Charleston Museum excavations tell us about
Heyward? This last question was pethaps the most
curious — if only becanse it could be so easily answered,
and yet had never been addressed. For years the
collections from the Museum’s excavations had
Ianguishecl, first in the Riclgelan& area and then in
Columbia.

Recognizing the potential, the Heyward
Foundation agreed to a second round of study — this
time focused on what the 1965 collections could tell us
about Old House and Daniel Heyward. The National
Trust for Historic Preservation also became convinced
that this was a worthwhile project and LelpecI with
additional £unc]ing.

This report, then, looks at these “lost”
collections and l)egi.us to address some of these
unanswered questions. But a word about mei:hoc]»ology
may be in order. Tt was author Richard Weaver who
observed that:

The Southern mind is not by habit
ana.lytical + + « - There seems to exist
a feeling that you do not get at the
truth of a thing — or that you do
notgeta.tatru’t]:lworth}mvi:ng—-ljy
breaking the thing in pieces . . . .
The Southern mind . . . secks out
w}uoles, representations, syml;ols
(Binswanger and Charlton 1994:40). .

While pe!:]:laps something of an overstatement, it does
}Jelp explai.n how we went about getting at the truth of
Old House. Altbougla we did use an malyhcal approa.ch
— we counted a.rtifacts, we derived mean dates, we
explore& the pattern of the collections — we also sought
to look at the whole. While we ]aope that this si:u&y will
be of interest to our ooﬂeaguw in }Jistory and
erchaeclogy, we ]nope mostl'y that it will be of interest to
the Heywa:d deseendants and the general pu.Him

Lilze any re&ea.rch, it leaves some issues
unresolved. As troubling as this is, it seems to be the
essence of good schalarship. Trying to zesolve all issues
too often results not in history, but in myth. So, we
have been able to flesh out Daniel Heywarcl and shed a

little more light on his plan’cation, but the quest must

go on.




EXPLORING QLD HOUSE




A HISTORIC SYNOPSIS

There are 2 variety of sources expioring the
history of the Heyward family in South Carolina.
Many foems on genealogical questions and also
incorporate a rather large guantity of folklore and oral
tradition. The most commonly cited source is
undoubtedly Heyward, written by James Barnwell
Heyward between about 1925 and 1931, and privately
printed about 1968 (cited here as Heyward n.d. a).
Portions of this were pu]:lls}lecl in the South Carolna
Historical Magazine (Heyward 1958), making it
somewhat more vnclely available. This same document
may be found in some archives as "The Heyward Family
of South Carolina" (South Carolina Historical Society,

- ) Heyward File, 30-4). Another predominately

genealogica.l source is "The Heyward Fa.mi}y of South
Carolina” compiled by Heyward Peck {1952). Two
accounts which focus on Thomas Heywa:cl, Jr. are
Grimball (n.d.} and McTeer (1978). However, the most
scholarly account is probably that compiled by Sallie
Doscher while worleing at the South Carolina Historical
Society. Her unpublished, and untitled, manuscrpt has
{ound its way, water stained and largely forgotten, to
The Charléston Museum's archival collections (Doscher
n.d). Another extensive overview of the Heyward family
is held by the Heyward Foundation. It, too, is
u:npub]mllecl and untitled (Ellen n.d.).

This current s’m&y attempts to synthesize
appropriate sections of these previons  studies,
reconci]ing differences where possi]ale, and pointing out
areas where additional research is necessary.
Throughout we have focused on Daniel Heyward, father
to Thomas Heyward, Jr.!, who developed Old House

! Thomas Heyward, Jx. was the eldest son of Daniel
Heyorard and his first wife, Mary Miles (1727-1761). Thomes
was born July 28, 1746. He was known as "." or
aceasionally as "the Yonnger," to distinguish himself from his
uncle, Thomas Heyward (1723-1795). This Thomas was
Daniel's younger brother and moved to Granville County
where he developed his own plantations on the Pocotaligo and

Plantation as his seat in remote Granville County.

_]l_aniel Hgyw&g_ré'g Ea.rly Life on James Island

Daniel's father was Thomas Heyward who was
horn in Charleston in December 1699, the only child
of Thomas and Margaret Heyward. Peck suggests that
he cultivated the family plantation on James Island, in
St. Andrews Parish (Peck 1952:n.p.). While this -
plantation was lzlze}y on the harbor side of the island,
the Heywax&s are also kmown to have had lands on the
Stono River.

In 1715 Thomas Heyward was drafted for
service in the Yemassee War, although Peck reports
that his mother pe’citione& for his release from service
since he was "an only child and not yet 16 years old"
(Peclz 1952: n.p.). At some point, however, he did serve
sinée the records reveal he nppiied, as a member of the
volunteer crew of the Revenge, for the prize money due
from the capture of the pirate Richard Wosley. He later
became a member of James Island militia and was
appointed captain of the company in 1725. Peck
reports that he served as commander of Fort Johnson
and in 1724 he was elected to the Assembly. His service
at Fort Iof:m.son, however, is another fam:j'y iegencl.
Heyward reports that while Thomas is referred to in 2
receipt as the Captain of Fort Johnson, there is
a]:solutely no other evidence that he ever served at Fort
Johnson, much less was in command of the fort

(Heyward 1907:20).

On March 16, 1732 Sonth Carolina Coundil
heard the petition for 2 500 acre grant in Granville
County by Captain Thomas Heyward (5.C. Depertiment
of Archives and History, South Carolina Council
Journal, vel. 5, part 1, p. 201-292). Heyward's grant
was one of a number reviewed at that time for Granville,
Colleton, Craven, and Berkeley counties. Some were to

Tulifinny rivers (Doscher n.d.m1; Heyward 1658:149-152).

7



EXPLORING OLD HOUSE

individuals with milita.ry rank, but more were to
gentlemen and ordinary citizens. The on'ginal grant
makes no reference to its purpose. That same &&y he
was grantecl:

All that parce‘x or Tract of Land
Containing  Five hundred acres
Situate ]:y‘i.ng and ]Deing in Granville
County in the Province aforesaid and
being in part of 2 Warrant of Seven
hundred and fifty Acres on the head
of Small Creek Butting and
Bounding to the Northward part on
Felamon Palmeter and part on land
not yet laid out to the East on the
said ereek to the south on Coll: Hall
(South Carclina Department of
Archives and History, Royal Grants,
voL 1, p. 21).

The plat for this tract reveals that it was
surveyed December 11, 1731, in response to a warrant

for 750 acres dated November 20, 1731 (Sout]lr

Cazolina Department of Archives and History, Colonial
Plats, vol. 1, p. 712 The plat itself, typical of the periocl,
is rather uninformative, s}:xowing only a creek along the
eastern and southeastern e&ge, with the bulk of the tract
extencling to the west.

Peck reports that thie grant wae in reward or
exclunge for his eatlier military sexvice and formed the
nucleus of the Old House Plantation established by
Thomas' son, Daniel Heyward. While thexe is little
doul)t, hased even on the limited c]eacription ancl plat,
that the pa:cel is Old House, there is greater doubt
concemming why it was issued. Ackerman notes that the
most common reason for granting land duxing this
period was the headright of 50 acres per settler.
Crantees claimed rigl:ds on the basis of the size of their
fmuiliﬁ, counting both slaves and children. While land
was also gra.n’cecl for services rendered, the most
common service was the importation of settlers and

? This took place shartly after Governor Johnson's
reopening of the land office and the prohibition against
surveys without a warrant. [t appears that Heyward was one of
the first to file for land under the new systern.
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Ackerman makes no mention of militery service Le'mg
adequate cause for land grants (Ackerman 1977:95-
97. Todd and Hutson also comment for atljacent
Prince Williams Parish that, "The instances of men
]:eing given free grants for m.thta.ry service, or s-pecial
patriotism, are in some cases true, but they were few"
(Todd and Hutson 1935:25). It seems likely, therefore,
that Thomas Heywﬁ.td, in the early 1730s, was in the
fﬁzce@a of expanding his holdings. Ackerman notes
t:

Owing to the combination of a
growing popu]ation and an increasing
emount of cultivated land, Socuth
Carolina emergecl from the chaos of
the 1720s to the developing
prasperity of the mi&-eighteenth
century {Ackerman 1977:100).

Heywarcl also c].isput&s this long-sfancling
family legenfl_, noting:

Now then, notl:ing that the p'u]:hc
records show of the ]jier of Capt.
Thomas Heyward confixms either
that he ever did much service as an
Indian &ghter, or, i.ndee&, that there
was much Indian f-:g]nhng going on
during his }ife (Heywazd 1907:20).

He suggests that the land had nothing to do with
military service, but was simply a grant.

Regardless of the reason, this area of South
Carolina was isolated and still a frontier. In 1720 there
were only 30 white inhabitants and 42 slaves in St.
Helena Parish, consisting of the islands comprising
Granville County (South Carolina Department of
Archives and History, BPRO Transeripts, vol. 9, p. 23;
Stauffer 1994:6-7).

Relatively little else is known about Thomas
Heywa:cd, a.ltl:xongh we can obtain some idea concerning
his ectivities based on ads he placed in the South
Carolina Gazette. Twice he advertised for ranaway slaves.
(Sout}z CaroA'na Gazetta, Agnl 1, 1732, p- 3; Novem.l]er
8, 1735, p. 3), as well as the sale or rent of several
pleces of property (South Carolina Gazette, January 1,
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1733, p. 3; April 14, 1733, p. 4). These ads suggest
that Thomas Heyward engaged in Charleston's
s'pecu]aﬁve real estate market, appa.rently supplementing
his planting activities. This, in turn, further supports
his acquisition of land in Granville County under the
heac[nght system, suggesting that he was acquiring
sufficient lands to ensure that his male children had
land. At the time of his will, Thomas had six male
children, (Heyward 1958:147), care for which would
have requirecl a substantial estate.

Captain Thomas Heyward died at his James
Ieland plantation on Mazch 11, 1736 and was buried in
the graveyard of the St. Andrews Chuzch.® Peck reports
that his tombstone was in existence as late as 1860,
which suggests that by 1952 when he wrote that it could
o longer be found ¢

In sp'ﬂ:e_o{ his military career and activities a8
a p]anter, Thomas describes himself as a hatmaker.®
Dated March 7, 1736/7, only four days hefore his
death, his will wasn't proved® for an additional seven
years, until January 7, 1743/4. Peck notes that after
provic]:ing for his wife, Hester Heywa.rc], Thomas
instructed that the remainder of his estate should be
equally divided among his wife and six sons, Daniel,
Thomas, John, James, Nathaniel, and Samuel, all of
whom were minors at the time. Peck reports that while

® St. Andrews Episcopal Church is sitnated about
4 miles northwest of Chadleston, west of the Ashley River on
SC 61. It was originally constructed in 1706, rebuilt in
1735, and bumed in 1760. It was immediately rebuilt,
restored in 1858 and again in 1958.

* The Church suffered a fire in the 1940s which
datmyerl all of their early records and there is no inventory of
stones for the churchyard. Cansequently, the only way to
determine whether or not Thomas Heyward's resting place is
still marbed would be a careful search of the actusl gravaya:tcl.

® In this he appears to have followed family
tradition. His grandfather, Daniel, from Litle Eaton,
Englancl listed his occupation as "Hatter" (Gnm}:all n.&.:l).

® "Proving" a will at this time typically meant
establishing its validity and entering into probate. Why there
was such a long interva] between death and pm]:ate is not

Enown.

Daniel eventually developed Old House, John developed
Tichton Plantation, and James settled Sandy Hill.
Doscher also notes that Daniel received from his father
slaves, his watch?, sword, pistols, and "my other
Aceoutrements" (Doscher n.d.:1).

Establishine Old House

The same year the will was proved, 1743,
Daniel Heyward probably left James Island to settle his
father's grant in Cranville County (Ellen n.d.:51).
Numerous faxmly accounts repeat the same general
observation, that Daniel "made the trip in an open boat
with a few Negro slaves, taking an inland route for some
seventy-five miles to the southwest" (Ellen n.d.:51).

The same year Daniel moved to Gramville he
also married Mary Miles, daughter of William Miles, a
St. Andrews Parish planter who was also active in the
affairs of the parish, serving as i;]:\e church warden
(Dascher n.d.:1). The wedding apparently tack place at -
St. Andrews, with the Reverend Mr. William Guy,
rector of the cl:m.rc]n, oEiciaﬁng.

While relatively little is known of the decision
to leave James Island or the move i\‘seE, at least one
researcher notes that Daniel was hardly alone in this
new setting. Across the Euhaw was Hazzard Hall. To
the east was Hogg's Neck. And across the Broad River
was Barwell Island. Doscher also notes that Granville
County was the home to a number of Indian traders,
ncluding Stephen Bull and Thomas Naire. There
were also a number of planters who had moved from
Purrysburg — Huguenin, Strobhar, Robert, Lucas, and
[zard. In 1757 Daniel Heyward received a memorial for
six tracts of land in Granville County, including Old

? Tt would be this watch which provided the basis for
Thomas Heyward's claim on his father's hehalf to a coat-of-
Arms. Thomas explained to the College of Heraldry in
London that the origin of their coat-of-Arms was lost as a
result of the “incidents of Time and distance from the Mother
Country” (Heyward n.d-:26). Their right to the coat-of-Arms

Was approve

The presence of a watch, however, tells us

something of the wealth and prosperity of Thomas Heyward
— as well as his entry into the gentility.
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Figure 3. Thomas Heyward’s plat for 500 acres at what would hecome Old House Plantation {(SCDAH, Colonial Plats
vol. 1, p.7).
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House, totaling 2,115 acres (South Carolina
Departruent of Archives and History, Memorials, vol. 7,
p. 159). It is difficult without additional research to
determine why Daniel obtained a warrant for lands
alrea.dy in his possession. Certainly the most common
reason for such a step was that the individual was
anxious o confirm 2 questionable title (see Ackerman
1977:99).

It seems that Daniel scomed pohhcal life — he
twice declined to serve in the Commons House of
Assernl:ly after Leing elected Ly his fellow pa.ris]:l.ioners,
first in 1765 (representing St. Peters Parish) and again
in 1768 (representing St. Lukes Parish). Yet his
reluctance to serve appears to be more out of concern
{or his absence from his plantaticn than out of distaste
for po].iﬁcal office.? While claclmmg service which would
take him away from Qld House, Le did serve as justice
of the peace in 1756, as well as a member of the
Granville County Regiment. He was also a church
warden and member of the vestry in 1765 and wasa
member of the Anglican Board of Church

Coemmissioners in 1774.

Daniel has also been characterized as 2 "textile
pioneer" with mention made of his 1777 letter to his
son, Thomas, in which he notes, "my manufactory goes
on l)ravely, but fear the want of cards® will put a stop to
it, as they are not to be got; if 'I:hey were, there is not

® In 1777 Daniel wrote his son, Nathaniel
Heyward, Jr., "I deal not in Politics tho always Amxous to
hear what is doing in this new Wodd" (Heyward 1.d.:25).
This reflects both his earlier disinterest in polih'cal office and
his |ater reluctance to endozse the American Revolution.

quywudmspeakingofhandm&em—snmﬂ
tools with ]:Lancuﬁ, covered on one side with card olo‘l:]:l.i.ng, a
flexible fabric densely packed with small wire hooks. Cotton
fiber (like wool} is pulled apart a little by hand and is then
p]aCEcl between two hand carders. Pu]ling the carders in
opposite directions combs or svarifies the cotton, with the
small wire hooks teasing it apart. Next the cotton is collected
on one carder and the process is repeated, usually about five
times. The cotton. is considered prope:ly carded when all of
the fibers are sepazated from each other. Foﬂowing the
ca.tJ.i.ug, cotton is combed, mal?ing its fibers pa.ra.uel, rearly for
spinning. Once spun it is strong enclug]:x for weaving
{Seymour 1984:175).

the least doubt but that we could make six thousand
yards of good cloth in the year from the time we began™
{quoted in Doscher n.d.:3). That same year the South
Carolina and American General Gazette nioted that:

a planter to the Soﬁihwa.rcl, who
three months ago had not a Negro
that could either spin or weave, has
now t]nrl:y hands cons‘tantly
employe&, from who he gets one
hunclre&—twenty yar&s of goo&
wearable Stuff made of Woallen and
Cotton every Week. He had only one
white Woman to instruct in
Weaving. He expects to have it in his
Power not only to Clothe his own
Negroes, but soon to supply his
neig}:zljors. The £o]lowing so laudable
an Example will be the most effectual
Method of lessening the present
exorhitant Price of Cloth" (Sautfz
Carofina and American General
Gazette, January 30, 1777, qucﬂ:ecl in
Doscher n.d.:3}).

While both this article and Doscher suggest that it was
the non-importation agreement of December 1, 1774
which spurrecl Daniel's interest in cloﬂ'x-mal:ing, his
clear loyalist (or at hest apolitical) leanings suggests
otherwise. In fact, a letter several years earlier in 1774
from Ralph Izard notes that "Mr. Heyward has as many

10 The first non-importation agreement was that of
1768 when Boston urged other colonies to refuse imported
goocls from Great Britain. This opanec} a rift between the’
pu]:].ic, which at fizst supporl:ea. the itlaa, and the marc]:ants,
who had the most to lose. Eventually even the public largely
ignored the agreement and by the end of 1770 the non-
fmportation agresment was terminated. While support was
modest, at best, Britain in 1770 repealed all duties except
that on tea. Bven this &u’cy, .Tn.awever, was made a0 low that tea
was cheaper in the Colonies than it was at home in England
{(Wallace 1951:242).

Non-importation was again used in 1774, when the
Fizst Continental Congrass ac]optecl an Association p]eclging
non-commercial intercourse with Great Britain, Ireland, and
the British West Indies (Wallace 1951.254-255),
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people as any gerd:]ema.n in the State and makes cotton
enough to clothe them all” (qu.ote&. in Doscher n.d. :3).
It seems most ].llzely that Daniel Heywa::cL asa goocl
businessman, saw an opportunity to reduce the cost of
clotl:ing his slaves and Lega.n manufach.uing cotton and
woollen goods. His market, however, dramatically
increased with the non-importation acts.

In addition to his textile interests, secondary
sources often cite Daniel Heyward's efforts to produce
a tidal rice mill. Duncan Clinch Heyward, in his Seed
from Maclagascar, argues that the existence of a raceway
and mill stones on the Old House site in the 1930s
provides proof that the mill predates Jonathan Lucas'
tidal rice mill of 1787 (Heyward 1937:22-23). Doséher
tempers this assertion by pointing out that the "mill
remains . . . could have been constructed })y one of
Daniel's children" (Doscher n.d.:4). There seems,
however, to be little indication that any of Daniel’s
children had either his intetest or a.]ai]ity in plantation
affairs. Nevertheless we can't discount the POEElI)]].l‘ty
that others may have added the rice mill at a later time.

This illustrates perlmps one of the greatest
{rustrations associated with Daniel Heyward. In spite of
his obvious success and wealth, there are very few
historical accounts or records to detail his efforts. For
example, for the period from 1743 when Daniel
established Old House tl'u:ougla 1768, the most recent
date for which the South Carolna Gazstte is indexed,
Heyward appears only a handful of times. In 1750 he is
listed as the individual "in Indian-Land" to which
Granville County residents could pay their tax for the
establishment of 2 pilot boat service in Port Royal
113.1']:)01 (South Carolina Gazetts, October 1, 1750, p- 4).
This suggesis that he was copsidered trust‘wor’ch'y
enoug}l to collect and account for pu])].w funds. Later,
in 1751, he is listed as an executor for Joseph Sealy
(Sautlz Caro]ina Gazette, December 6, 1751, P- 3).11

He advertised for run away slaves on several

!* This was perhaps the father of a Joseph Sealy
who, in 1754, received & memorial for 500 acres in Granville
County on Euhaw Creek (S.C. Department of Archives and
History, Auditor General Memorials, Series 2, volume 7,
page 58).
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occasions (South Carolina Gazctte, January 29, 1754,
January 27, 1757, and June 9, 1757}, as well as once
£OI a rumn away ]JO]:EE (Sal[i]l Carakﬂa Gazefte' Decem]:JEr
31, 1764). He advertised rice £pr sale only once (South
Carolina Gazatts, Aupust 28, 1755) and property also
only once (South Carofina Gazetts, June 14, 1767).

While most of these references P].ace him in
“Indian Lands,” some refer to his residence being “near”
Port Royal, or in Granville County, or once, at
“Eul)aw," almost certai_nly a ty'pograp]lical error of
EBubaw.

Daniel had six children by his first wife, Mary
Miles. Tl‘loma.s, born in 1746 (cllecl in 1809), was the
eldest. Three died young — Nathaniel, born in 1748
died in 1753; Maria, borm in 1749 also died young, but
at an unknoum date; Hester, born in 1751, died in
1753. Surviving siblings of Thomas were Daniel, born
in 1750 (died in 1778) and William, born in 1753
(died in 1786). Mary died in May 1761, leaving her
hushand to care for three children — Thomas who was
15, Daniel who was 11, and William who was eight.
Within two years the 43 year old Daniel Heyward
married again, taking the 18 year old daughter of John
and Mary Cignilliat, Jane Elizebeth, as his wife
(.Doscher n.rl:‘i'; Heywaxc}. 1058:149), Gigniuiat was
the son of a French Huguenot and a planter in St. John
Berleeley Parish (I‘Ieywa.rd nd. a:18; Bai.ley and Cooper
1981:262). By her he had another son, James, who was
bom in 1764 — ahout a year after their wedding.
Nathaniel was born in 1766 (died in 1851) and Maria
was born in 1767 (died in 1837).

Jane Elizabeth died in 1771 and almost exactly
a year later in 1772 Daniel married the 24 year old
Elizabeth Simons, daughter of Benjamin Simons of
Charleston.® By her Daniel had two children, Elizabeth
in 1773 (died 1780) and Benjamin, whose hirth date is
not known, but who died in 1706 (-Heywarcl nd. a:19;
Heyward 1958:140). Elizabeth Heyward did not die

12 The South Carofina Gazatte on September 12,
1771 announced that "Last Thunsday Night, Col. Daniel
Hayward, the greatest planl;er in this province, was married to
Miss Elizabeth Simons, a daughter of Benj. Simons, Esq.,
late Commissary General.”
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until 1?88-

Daniel Heyward was apparenily an astute
businessman and planter. By 1757 he had a.cq'mrec]. a
town lot in Beaufort and 2,115 acres in Granville
County (Rowland 1971:32). In 1770 he also
purchased a two-story house and lot at 87 Church
Street in Charleston belonging to John Milner, a
gunsrnith. He appaxenf:ly had the existing house
demolished and built the current three-story structure
and at least some of the present c]epenr]enci&ﬂ. This later
became the residence of his son, Thomas Heyward, Jr.
(Anonym‘ous 1949:6).13 |

By the time of his death in 1777 Daniel
Heyward had managed to acquire 15,654 acres of land
(Rowland 1971:32). Doscher reports that he acquired
16,078 acres of land, = Beaufort house, three Beaufort
lots, stores and a lot at Cook’s Landing on Okatie
Creek, a house and lot in Charleston, and nea.r}y a
thousand slaves (Doscher n.d.: 2).

Daniel's will is described by Heyward (n.d.
a:21) as "a.ppa:m’tly luci&," but "abstruse" and this does
seem to be a fair &escripﬁon of the seven page typescrdpt
document (Chadeston County WPA Will Transcripts,
vol. ¥7 {1774-1779), e- 690-696; also repr'm’cea in
Heyward n.d. a:19-21). Besides the oblique remainder
clauses, Daniel also did a rela’cively poor jo]a of
descri])ing the various plantations, Nowhere, for
example, daes the will spaclﬁcaﬂy mention "Old House"
and he seems to have used the phrase, "my plantation"
to describe several different properties (rather than
exclusively using it for his primary seat). To confuse the
matter more, the Heyward (n.d. &} transcription drops
several key phrases and lines.

Nevertheless, a careful rem:]m€ of the WPA
transcript reveals that Daniel was diligent in ensuzing

13 This stracture is toclay known as the Heyw&rd
Washington House and is operated by The Chareston
Museum. While the "Heywazd" portion of the title denotes the
house's ownemship by Daniel and later Thomas, Washington
was added to name to commemorate the residence of George
Washington in 1791 during his trip through South Carolina
{Anonymous 104G-0Y,

that the property remain in the £amily, pravicling trusts
for minor children, requiring that they inherit the
property only i t]:ley achieved 21 and/or had heirs. He
was successful at provi&ing substantial estates to all of
]n.is male and female child.ren, esta.uislaing a coclicil in
July 1777 to provide for his youngest son, Benjamin.
He also distributed his five carpenter slaves to various
childzen, seemingly ensuring that their special skills
would be available to as wide a range of heirs as possi]:le.

Thomas, as several researchers have poi.nte&
out, received only a single slave, Carpenter Squire, from
his father's estate since Daniel had a].rea.cly deeded land
to his grown sons, Thomas, Jr., Daniel, Jr., and

It appears that Old House, which was referred
to only as "that Tract of land and House where [ now
live" was devised to William along with its furniture,
tools, utensils, stock, slaves, and other items, a.ltllou.g]:l
in a.ch.xa]ﬂ:y William only had a life interest in the
property. At his death, the land was to be divided
between his lawful male heirs and the slaves and stock to
be divided between his lawful male and female heirs. In
case he should pro&uce no heirs, the property would be
divided between sons Thomas and Daniel.

[n addition, although Daniel specified that his
wife Elizabeth was to have a life trust in his Charleston
house, as well as his 764%% acre plantation originally
granted to Broughton, he also specified that she was to
have use of Old House for "as long as my son Thomas
may think the present Commotions make i necessary
for her to live in the Country."* This suggests that Old
House was either far more comfortable than the
Broughton tract — a reasonable supposition considering
that it was the family seat — or that it was further
removed from the hostilities of the American
Revolution.

William was also to receive seven different
tracts ’co’ca.ling 2,510% acres in the Pl_u'rysl)urg

% Since Elizabeth Heyward was buried in
Charleston'’s St. P}:Lilip's Churchyard {(Heyward 1958:150), it
appears that she left Old House at least Ly the end of the

Revolation.
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Towns}].ip, a 529 acre island tract, a quarter of the
stores and Jot at Cook's I.anl:l:'\ng on the Okatie, and

seven name& slavee.

While there is no appraisement for Daniel's
estate, his son Daniel Heyw:ml, Jr. died on}y a year after
his father and an inventory and appraisement is
available for his estate. Even after three years of warfare,
Daniel's estate was valued at £21,820 cumrency,’ of
which £18,200 (83%) was invested in 40 African-
American slaves (Rowland 1971:32). Clearly Daniel
Heyward's wealth would have been many times that of
his son.

This waalt]:l was an indication of the weu-}:emg
p£ the Beaufort area. As Rowland observes:

the Port Royal area was experiencing
the greatest prosperity and the
greatest security it had ever known.
The fortunes of the area were close}y
allied with those of the Georgia
colony whose government may have
been the most successful roy'al
government in North America in the
1760's and 1770%. In addition, the
most important members of the most
influential fmm'ly of the southern
district were loy-al servants of the
roya.l government of South Carclina
t'nzoughmxt the colomial periorl. )
Furthermore, the most important
merchants of Beaufort were zecently
arrived Scots and well-known Tory
sympathizers (Rowland 1971:66).

Old House During the American Revolution

As prewousl'y mentione&, Daniel Heywa.u:]. Was
alive for the frst three years of the American
Revohution. Heywa.r& notes that Daniel:

was not in sympat]:ty . . - with the
revolt by the Province of South
Carolina against the Englisll

15 This equates to about $362,000 in 1992 dollars.
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Government. Proud of what his
{ather and he himself had
accomplishecl in the American
wilderness and  without any
Puritanical  animosity to a
monarchical form of government but
attached }Jy reason of his Cavalier
tradition to the person of the King;
he would have much pre£errec1 to see
both business and polih'cs rigl'xtecl
without a complete severance from
the Mother country (Heywar& n.d.
a:24).

In fact, even McCrady in his History of South Carofina
reports that Daniel Heyward was a Tory (Heyward n.d.
b: 17). While this certainly presents an interesting
contrast to his son Thomas's ﬁery patriotism, it seems
overstated. Rowland observes that it wasn't so much that
the residents in the Beaufort - Port Royal area were
Tories as it was that they simply weren't very committed
to either side. He notes, "Their only real interest was
the protection of their families and property from the
clepre&aﬁons of war regarcuesa of which army was
operating in the district" (Rowland 1971:77).

There is also at least some circumnstantial
evidence that Daniel either ai&ecl, or at least toleratec].,
the Rebel cause. In the Accounts Audited of Claims
Crowing Out of the American Revolution, the Daniel
Heyward estate produced bhills and receipts in the
emount of £ 110.9.7 sterling for provisions, including
cattle, clean rice, and roug]:l rice sold to local troops
(South Carolina Department of Aschives and History,
Accounts Auc].i‘l:ecl, File 3567). Another claim was
submitted by Daniel's widow, Blizabeth, for £54.0.4
sterling, also for provisions sold to local troops (South
Carolina Department of Archives and History,
Accounts Aundited, File 3568).

In February 1779 the British launched a brief
attack on Port Roya! while later that Spring, Prevost
made a brief foray against Charleston. Retreating along
the coastal islands back to Beaufort, he established his
command in the Beaufort and Port Royal Island area
(Row]a.nc]. 197176) The effect of these actions on the

Plan’cations in the vicinity is not
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Figure 4. Plan of the Operations of the Detachment which Sailed on the 22nd of August from Charlestown to the Southward,
showing the Heyward plantation at Old House inn 1782 (Dartmouth College Library, Scavenius Collection).
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well documented. A short account from Lewis' Annals
of the King's Royal Rifle Corps™® suggests that at least

several p]antations were rai :

The vessels proceecling up Broad
River anchored opposite the eIega.nt
house of General Bull on the island
of Port Royal. Captain Murray was
detached with his company up a
navigahle creek on the South side
with orders to bumn the plantations
whose masters were absent. T]:ey
landed at a planfcaﬁon where the
master was gone, and with much
Tegret burnt the house of Colonel
Hayward who with his sons EPPB&I&(].
on horseback at the edge of the
woods, when Captain Murray
advanced and called on them to come
forward and save the building. In
answer to tl:u's, they fired at him and
gaﬂop&& off. Capta.in Murray
notwit]nstaucling ordered all the
furnitu.re to be taken out, and took
upon himself, to presarve the
Overseer's house on account of the
Ladies of the Fa.mlly Lieutenant
Barron Breitenbacj went to an
opposite Plan{:ation, whose master,
having gout, the house was saved and
nothing taken away. Two armed
negroes o£ Colone] Heywa:cl's came
ander the bank of the Creek skullsing
for a shot, but were hemmed in Ly
Sergeant Birnie and two of the men
to whom t]:mey surrendered. Tierce of
mdlgo was ]:raught off, but no
plunder allowed from the house
(Lewis 1913:311-313)."”

1 Originally known as either the Royal Americans
or the 60th Foot, these troops took the name King's Rayal
Rifle Corps in the nineteenth century.

" Some aspects of this story are repeatecl Ly
Heyward, who reports:
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Todd and Hutsen (1935:77) reveal that
Prevost's army during the Apxil-May 1779 move against
Charleston included 200 Royal Americans®®, so it is
poasilale that the account is from this movement, rather
than the earlier attack on Port Roya.l. It appears,
however, that at least Prince William Parish,
i.mmecliately east of St. Luke's where Old House is
situated, was largely epared. The only major loss appears
to be Sheldon Church (Todd and Hutson 1935:77).
The observation that “Colonel Heywar&’s house” was
burned must be viewed cauﬁously. There were a number
of Heywards in the area and this may be a reference to
any number of different tracts. It almost certainly was
neither Old House nor White Hall.

One of the few maps from this period is in the
Scavenius Collection at the Dartmouth College Library.
It shows the Heywa:cl property and the adjacent road
network, but otherwise provi&es few details concerning
the planta’cion or its organization.

After the Revolution — and Daniel Heyward's -
death — attention seems to turn to Thomas Hey-warcL
Jx. and activities at White Hall Plantation.”® Thomas .

A]soastotyiatol&t]utclmingt}ne
Revolution when some British soldiers
bega.n ra.iJ.i.ng kis com fields he and two
of his overseers took their guns and fired
upon the solc]iars, who retired. Later the
soldiers returned with a full company and
Daniel Heyward and his overseers beat a
retreat. Apparently this was the end of
the affair (Heyward n.d. a:18).

1 Also present were between 1,300 and 1,500
Royal Scotch Highlanders, 500 to 700 Hessians, 200 troops
in Lel ancey's 1st and 16th, 00 troops from St. Aug-ustine,
400 Light Horse, 120 Indians, and an unknown number of
York volunteers.

19 White Hall is situated about a mile to the east of
Old House, a&jacent 1o his father's Old House Plantation.
Based on peﬁocl rnaps, the sm:xc!mc]ing historical events, and
the remnant architecture, it is likely that White Hall was
constructed l'ly either Daniel Hey'ward or his son, Daniel
Heyward, Jr. in the first half of the 1770s. Daniel Heyward,
Jr. lived there until his death in 1778. The inventory of his
estate in 1782 lists his property at both White Hall and also
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retized to White Hall around 1782 and it seers that he
spent little time away from the area. Even as George
Washington spent seven nights in Thomas’ Charleston
home, Heyward remained at White Hall and waited for
Washington to arrive for a night's lodging on May 11
(Lipscomb 1993:54).

Thomas' retirement, however, was marred by a
series of ugly inter-family disputes arising from Thomas'
management of his father's trusts for-the various
children. This period in Thomas' [ife is handled in
different ways by his various biographers. One, for

examp]e, notes:

In Daniel's Wi.u, Thomas
was trustee for the younger children.
' Accor&ing to a descenclant, he
"managed the estate as if it had been
his individual property, lzeeping few if
any accounts.” He was = goocl
guan]ian in other ways, seeing to the
education of the children a.u&, it
seems likely, ]:ueing generous and
lcving to them. As each attained his
majority he was fait!:nfuﬂy given his
Lequesk of land and dlaves. But
having lzept no Imrc]s, Thomas
could give no account of the income
from the various trusts, and the
result was a series of lawsuits brought
against him.

Thomas's half-brother
Nathaniel did not join the other
wards in blaming him. Nathaniel said
that the will was vague and, anyway,
Thomas just wasn't much of a

businessrnan (Bllen n.d.: 78).
Doscher (n.d.) provides a detailed explanation of the

Sprﬁlgﬁeli Thomas Hey'wm‘rl, Jr. retumed to Scuth
Carolina from exile in Philadelphia shortly thereafter and took
up residence at White Hall (Fick 1997). Today only tabby
foundation ruins remain. The site has been dstermined
eligi[;le for inclusion on the National Register of Historie
Places although it is not listed.

various cases which appear to revolve around William
Brailsford, who married Maria Heyward, clemancli:ug .
that he was entitled to her share of the Heywa:cd wealth,
includ.ing all proﬁts which might have acerued from her
share of the estate. He also charged that other members
of the Heywa.rcl family were unfair}y given proceeds
which should have been given to Maria. The case, which
began in late 1797 extended to November 1804..

Thomas Heyward, Jr. died on April 17, 1809
"at his residence at White Hall." He was described
simply as "the last survivor of the Delegates of this
State, who signed the Declaration of Independence”
(Scmtll Carolina Gazatte, APIL[ 22, 1809).20 He was
buried next to his £a.t}1&r, Daniel, in the Old House
cemetery.

Old House in the Nineteenth Century

Just as there is little documentary evidence
concerning activities on Old House after Daniel's death
{and relatively few even before) the first half of the
nineteenth century is neatly a void. Daniel Heyward's
will specifies that William Heyward was to receive Old
House and at least one source claims that William lived
at the plantation (Ellen n.d: 112). Heyward
(1958:154-155) reports only that William married
Hannah Shubrick on January 1, 1778, only a few
months after inheriting Old House. Hannah was the
daughter of Thomas Shubrick and Sarah Motte.

Shubrick Egan asa s}:uip captain, entering into
a mercantile business by 1739. By the 1750s he had
become a "wealthy and eminent merchant" dealing
primarily in agricultural and forest products (Edgar and
Bailey 1977:609). He owned several plantations on the
Cooper River, but settled at a plantation in St. Philip
Parish. Shubrick was also active in local politics, as well
as serving in the Royal Assembly and eventually the
Provincial Congress and First General Assembly.
Hannah was his youngest claugll’cer and it seems lilzely

2 Edgar and Bailey (1977:324) report that Thomas
clxerlonA.pﬂl 22, but this seems to be in error, since the
newspaper of that date reports he died five days earlier. Tt
seems L.kely that the news would take ahout that long 1o reach
Charleston from Beaufort.

17
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that she and William met ’cl:u:ough the poliﬁcal and
business connections of the Heywards and Shubricks,

possi]:ly in the Ia.cleson]aoro area.

William had five children, four of which lived
to maturity. His eldest son was William, born in 1779,
almost exa.cl'ly a year after the marriage of William and
Hannah. His only other son was James, about whom

little is known (Fleyward 1958:155)%

Reference back to Daniel Heyward's will
reminds us that Old House was left to William as a life
trust, to be pa.ssecl on to his
death. Williarn Heywar& died in 1786 a.ucl was buried at
Old House. His son, William, Jr. was only seven years
old at his father's death and Heywarcl (1958:155)
reports that Hannah retired to Charleston where she
built "a handsome residence on Legare Street."®

Although young William appears to have
strong connections with New York, marrying Sarah
Cruger there in 1804, he was clearly living at Old
House in the 1820s when the area was visited by the
outspolzen Mus. Basil Hall. Mrs. Hall had visited the
Nathaniel Heyward Plantation on March 8 and two
days later amrived at Old House, described as being 10%%

miles from Coosawha’cchip. She reported:

On leaving Mr. Nathaniel Hayward's
this morning, he gaveus a letter for
his relation, M. W:llla.m Hayward,
whose house, he said, was 8 good

distance for & day’s journey, and that

the owner would be most }:lappy to
recefve us. Accordingly, On we camne,
altho' at Cocsawhatchie we were told
that Mr. Haywarcl was from home.
However, b‘y the time we reached his
gate it was half past five o'clock and

t]nere was no place where we coulcl
put up, short of nine miles further

! Family history places William’s death in 1799
and has his burial at Old House in an unmarked plot.

2 This is the Hannah Heyward House at 81 Legare

Street (Poston 1997:249).
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male heirs at William's

on, which woul& have o]:ligerl us to
travel in the datk, so we laolcll'y drove
up to the door. The servant told us
that his master was from home but
that he could with ease accommodate
us for the n.ig]:rl:. This was too
]:Lospit&b}.e to be teiectecl, so we had
our t]:lings taken out of the carriage,
walked in, had fires lighted in the
sitting room and two bedrooms, and
in half an hour were as much at
home as if we had lived all our lives
in South Carofina. . . . But only
imagine our luck and our &B].lgllt in
fmdmg ourselves in full possession of
a gentleman's establishment without
the géne of the company of the
gentlema.n himself! . . . Dick, the
head servant, had given us tea and is
to give us breakfast tomorrow before
we start for Savannsh. ... We left
Mr. William Haywar&'s after an
excellent hreabfast on the morning of
the twelfth, We found our rooms
most comfortable and the servants as
attentive as if their master had been
at home (Pope-Hennessy 1931:223-
225).

Cleardy Willam Heyward, Jr. was the resident,
an& probably owner, of Old House in the 1820s. Tn
1830 William Heyward apparently donated the land in
Grahamwille® on which the Episcopal church, Holy
Trinity, was built (South Carolina Historical Society,
Grahamville File, 30-8-162). His younger brother,
James, was buried at Qld House in 1805 and in 1845
William, too, was laid to rest in the family graveyard. It
is about this Hme, lnowver, that the connection between
Ol House and the Heyward family ]:-agins to dim,

2 Grahamville was a summer vi]lage for the rice
Pla.nters in the Buhaws section of St. Luke's Parish which
l:egan at least by the eazly antebellum. Toclay Grahamville and
Ridgeland "are physically separated . . . by only a fraction of
a mile, ]:y a small stream hamessed into culverts, and I:vy a
negro section, 'Liberia™ {South Carolina Historical Society,
Grahamville file, 30-8-162).




A HISTORIC SYNOPSIS

While  addi-
tional research
will certainl‘y
I‘lElP us
understand this
periocl better,
the loss of
Beaufort
County  rec-
OIJS COB£\IEEB
the llistory of
OM House.

One
possible
expla.nation is

that the
Heywa.rds sim-
ply “drifted
away" from Qld
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Figure 5. Reconnaissance of Upper Part of Broad River, 1864-1865 showing White Hall and th
vicinity of Old House (National Axchives RG 77, Map I-50).

.
| A+
=

Bridge," and
White Hall
Plantation is shown nea.r.[:y. While this may suggest the
gradual decline in Old House's prominence, it is
important to remember that only subscribers are shown
on Mills' atlas.

By at least 1860, around 15 years after the
death of William Heyward, Jr., the plantation was
owmed by James Bolan, a wealthy Beaufort area planter
about whom very little is known. He appears in the
{ederal census records for Beaufort County from 1820
iln‘ough 1850. He also purcbase& a house and lot on
King Street in Charleston from George Cox in 1828
(Charleston County RMC, DB W9, p. 217). Earlier, in
1817, he had purchased Parkers Ferry from Adam

Tunno (Charleston County RMC, DB U8, p. 353). In
1855 Bolan apparently donated the funds to allow the
Episcopal chapel in Grahamwille to expand (South
Carolina Historical Society, Grahamville File, 30-8-
162).

The 1850 Agricultural Schedule for St. Luke's
Parish reveals that he owmed 11,000 acres valued at
$55,000, of which 3,000 was improved. His
Pla.utaﬁons had $2,500 in Inac}ninery and $7,000 in
livestock, ncluding 20 horses, 18 mules, 200 milch
cows, 46 oxen, 310 cattle, 145 sheep, and 100 swine.
His St. Luke's plantations produced 2,400 bushels of
corn, 1,000 bushels of oaks, 276,000 pounds of rice,
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100 bales of cotton, 300 pounds of wool, 1,000 bushels
of peas and beans, 1,200 bushels of sweet potatoes, 400
pounds of butter, and 30 gallons of molasses. This
listing of agricultura] products places him among the
more wealt]:ly Beaufort area pla.nters.

Several maps reveal Bolan's settlement was at
Old House. The earliest identified is the "Map of the
Rebel Lines of the Pocotaligo, Combahee and Ashepoo,
South Carolina” prepared in 1865. As late as 1873
Bolan is still shown on a map of Beaufort County. On
the other hand a very detailed map of the “Upper Part
of Broad River” made by Union forces in December
1864 and January 1865 fails to show Old House,
although White Hall and another plantation to the east
are clearly shown. The Old House area is shown blank.
We believe this means that while Bolan owned the
property, and there may have been some very small
settlernent there, Old House was no longer recognizable
as a significant plantation worthy of note.

Bolan died in 1865 and while his will
appaxently does not survive, at least some administrative
papers are extant (Beautort County Probate- Court,
Admin B-44.** Three executors were named — one died
before Bolan and one was c].isqua]jﬁec{, leaving Thomas
S. Behn as the sole executor. Records reveal that
Bolan's pla.n‘l:ations included at least Old House,
Bellfield, Preference, and Good Hope. Behn, in March
1871, paicl QOP. law for a survey of these tracts,
althoug}x the rﬂulting p].at has not been located.

Although Behn attempted 1o settle the estate,
it eventually had to be pa.rl:itionecl l:y an auction ordered

* Bolan is reported to have died and been buried in
Bamwell, South Carclina {South Carclina Historical Society,
Crahamville file, 30-8-162). It may be that his will and other
administrative documents are present in that county's records.
Wofford Malphrus (personal communication 1996) reports
that James Bolan's tombstone i at the Bolen Grave Yard at
Bolan Hall, only a few miles south of Old House. Also
present in the grave yard are the stones for James's two wives,
mother and father, and several children. Carefil inspection,
howevar, reveals that the Bolan stone is modern and that in
it's lower corner it notes that the stone was “Erected 1975.”
Whetker Bolan is buried at Bolan Hall or in Barnwell is
uncertain.

by the Court of Common Pleas in 1873. He rented
Old House to a vedety of individuwals. The few
remaining records reveal that in 1868 it was renterl,
along with Preference, to J.M. Farris for $76. In 1871
it was rented to Joseph Roctiussid, again with
Preference, for $130. By 1873 Old House and
Preference were renting for only $58, suggesting that
;]Je property was &eterioraﬁng.

On January 5, 1874 Charles J.C. Hutson,
Referee, sold Old House and Preference to Thomas E.
Miller. The recital reveals that the property was:

bounded north })}r lands of the estate
of James Bolan west by the same
South by the same and by Hazzards
Back Creek and east ]ay the Homey
Hill Road, containing 895 acres and
commonly known as "Old House"
and "Preference” (Beaufort County
RMC, DB 8, p. 285).

The decd also references a plat "hereto annexed and
made by Cliver P. Law on the 3rd May of February
1871" — the same one paid for by Behn which is today

migsing.

In 1895 Miller sold a 35 acre tract called "Old -
House" to William Jenkins for $335. Curiously, the
deed speciﬁcaﬂy withheld Iiglﬂ:s to the cemetery, with
Miller noting, "T do not convey the Heyward Grave Yard
]Jy these presents" (Beau.{ort County RMC, DE 21, P-

Twentieth Century Deve]opments

Jerkins held the tract until 1902, when he sold
the 35 acres, "commonly known as Old House," to
Camilia L. Beck for $800. The recitals trace the tract
back to the sale ]ay Hutson to Miller. The tract is
described as:

bounded to the north and east lny
Old Store Plantation, on the
southeast and south l)y S’craw}:erry
Hill Plantation laelongi.}:g to
Benjamin W. Seabrook and the west
l:»y Eusaw Road; excepting from the

21
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conveyance the Heywar& Grave Yard
{Beaufort County RMC, DB 24, p.
449).

1t was during this time that the next map of Old House
is available. "A. Map of the Good Hope Club Lands,"
totaling 13,404 acres, was prepared in 1910 for W.R.
Mew (Beeufort County PB 2, p. 16). While Old House
is not part of the Good Hope holdjngs, its location
between the two branches of Hazard Back Creek is
c[ea.r]y shown. In this location is shown the avepue
leaa.m.g From the main road, as well as a "lan&ing" on the
biuff edge. To the southeast is the location of
Preference, which by this time the plat notes was "Sold
to Da:lzia."

In 1914 Old House was again sold, this time
]:y the heirs of Camilia Beck Mrs. J. Willman of
Charleston and Arthur R. Beck and Joe Beck of
Georgia) to Ty]er L. Smith for $300, representing a
rather substantial loss (Charleston County DB D-1, p.

461). Curiocusly, there is no longer any mention of the
Heywarcl Grave Yard in the deed.

By 1921 Tler Smith had died and Old House
a.lon.g with his other lands were devised to his wife, Anna
A. Smith (Jasper County Probate Court, Will Book 1,
pp. 131-132). Within a year and a half, on May 26,
1922, Anna Smith scld the 35 acre Old House tract,
along with 6 acres in Coosawhatchie Township to
Angustus Bartow Cannon for $3,600 {Jasper County
RMC, DB 5, p. 242).

Cannon, of LB-COOC]’JBG, Floric}.a, sold Old
House to Harry B. Cooler, Sr. in 1930 for $3,500
{Jasper County RMC, DB 10, p. 274). The only map
dating from this period is the 1937 "General Highway
and Transportation Map for Jasper County". This map
suggests that no iaui]c‘inga or other structures were
present in the Old House area, conﬁnnjng the earlier
1910 plat. The Heyward influence, however, is still
present in the African-American "Heyward Church”
located on the west gide of S.C. 170 not far from Old

HOU.SB.

Cooler cl.lecl on Octo])er 19, 1968 Uasper
County Probate Court, Will Book 2, pp. 21-22). A
plat, dividing Cooler's 50.3 acres into four separete
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tracts had been prepared in 1963 and was attached to
the will (Jasper County RMC, PB 12, p. 490). Cooler's
will devised the Old House site, identified as Tract 2, to
his son, Harry B. Cooler, Jr. Tracts 1 and 4 {(which
included the Cooler Store) were devised to Edward
Thomas Cooler, while Tract 3 was passec]. to James
Everett Cooler.

In 1973 Harry Cooler, Jr. gave The Heyward
Foundation an option to purchase Tract 2 of his
father's will in February 1973 (Jasper County RMC,
DB 70, p. 173). This option was exercised on
December 20, 1973 and the deed was re-recorded on
January 11, 1974 (Jasper County RMC, DB 71, p.
359a, 398). In 1980 The Heyward Foundation sold
the 3.4 acres of high ground and 10 acres of marsh to
Jasper County (Jasper County RMC, DB 81, p. 1282).
The deed rather am])iguously speci.{ies that the county:

shall have full right to manage and
éevelap the property ]1e1-el:y conveyecl
in such manner as said County may
deem best su.ite&, or most li]zely, to
preserve same as a mermorial to said
Thomas Heyw-arc], Jr. and, as such,
for the benefit of the pu]:]lc in
general and parhc'ularly the people of
Lis native State; proviclecl, however,
the family grave plot on said property
in which Thomas Heyward, Jr., his
{ather and others are buried, shall be
forever preservecl and maintained
(Jasper County RMC, DB 81, p.
1283).

Su:mmarv

This historical account suggests that Old
House was built about 1743 —. the year that Daniel
Heywarcl married Mary Miles and that his father's will
was proved. It seems unlil:ely that Heywar& would have
taken his young bride into the Indian Lands, as they
were then known with no house waiting, so we suspect
that the house had been built a year or so eadlier. We'll
suggest ca. 1740.

Heyward’s first wife died in 1761 and he
married again in 1762. It may be about this time, if not
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earlier, that the plantation was expanded. Daniel
Heywa:rl had extensive operations at his plantation from
ca. 1740 until his death in 1777.

. From about 1777 t]:u:ougl'l 1845 the
plantation was operated by Williamn Heyward and his
heir, William, Jr. The plantation appears to have
continued to prosper, although it seems u.n]ileely that
William, or his son, were as careful, or as interested, as

Daniel Heyward, Sr. had been.

After William Heywa.td, Jr.‘s &.eath in 1845
there is goocl reason to believe that the tract ]:agan to
decline in importance. Owned by an absentee plenter,
the residence at Old House may have c]isappea:ecl — or
at least become inhabitable — by about 1865, There is
no doubt that by 1924 when the site was visited by R.C.
Ballard Thurston (apparently at the behest of Miss
Webber, a noted genealogist of the period), virtmally
nothing except the cemetery remained:

went out alxrut seven miles nearly
east of Ridgeland to site of the “Old
House™ {1 could not learn who built
it nor when it was built). Appazently
it had little or no cellar but did have
a brick foundation. N ot}:ing but the
site and floating brick left R.C.
Ballard Thurston, South Caroline
Historical ~ Society, File 30-4

Consequently, the mansion had a Penocl of
oecupation from about 1740 through about 1845 — a
period of 105 years. If the house was still standing after
this, it was not lilzely oecupiecl and proLa]:nly saw few, if
any, repairs. The mean historic occupation date,
therefore, is about 1792.5.
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THE CHARLESTON MUSEUM EXCAVATIONS

In early 1965 Hary B. Cocler, Sr. selected
what seemed to be an ideal spot‘for his new house — on
a little rise and close to the marsh so that there was not
onlyal;ea.xrl:ifulview, but s good breeze. As he I)eganto
clear the lot, bulldozing off vegetation and attempting
to level the grouncl, he encountered what must have
]Jeen dense ]Jriclz, c]nu.nlm of stone, and a number of
relaﬁve!y large sherds of ceramics and g]a.ss. The site he
chose wes virtually the same identical spot that Daniel
Heyward had chosen for his house over 220 years
eazlier, Prol)ably with very similar reasoning.

Rather than continue on, he stoppecl his work

and contacted Mrs. Pauline Webel, the area's most -

knowledgeable historical advocate. She, in tum,
contacted the c].i:ector of The Chaﬂwton Museum, Mz,
Milby Burton. While we no longer have any record of
that initial conespon&ence, it must have been

compelling since Mr. Burton assigned 2 new Museum

employee, Mr. John Miller, an archaeclogist, to look

aver the gite.

In one of the first extant letters concerning the
project Burton comments that:

Mrs. Webb and Mr. Miller have been
going over the sherds with great
interest. Strange as it may appear
they are of the 1800-1840 period
which gmaﬂy puzﬂea us because it
seerns that they should be of an
earlier perio:l. If my memoty is
cotrect you said that these pieces
were skimmed over by the bulldozer
and in all pro]:)a]:iliﬁem we will find a
different type of material at a greater
depth (letter from E. Milby Burton
to Mrs. Fredric Pratt [-Webel], dated
March 11, 1965).

Alt]nough we have relah'vely little conesponc}.ence from
or to the Museum, there are several leH:ers £rorn J.L.
Brantley, the overseer of Good Hope Plantation, to
Webel, the dig's sponsor and also his employer. On June
1 he wrote: : ‘

Thougltd: you would like to know that
the young man, ]o}m Miller, from
the Museum in Charleston came
down la.s't We&nesclay, worla'.ug
Wednesday, Thursday and Friday. |
He is to be back tomorrow and will
work three days this week. . . . Mr.
Farr with Melvin and one other have
been helpi_ng him. He did not know
how 1ong it was going to take him,
but they are getting the foundation
where they can see it very good. He is
also ﬁndmg some interesting things
(letter from J.L. Brantley to Mys.
F.R. Pratt [-Webel], dated June 1,
1965).

Just a week later Brantley reporte&:

Mr. John Miller, the young man,
from the Charleston Museum has
been here off and on for the past six
weeks. He finished last Thurs&ay
with  the excavating of the
founclations, ta.lting all the
measuremnents and pictures. Looks
like it was a 1arge house. I think he
has found several pieces of interest to
the Museum (letter from TIL.
Brantley to M. FR. Pratt |-
We]:;el], dated June 6, 1965).

On June 21, however, Mﬂ]ay Burton with The
Charleston Museum wrote to Webel that:

As you know Miller has been c].oing
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quite a lot of work on the house. It
appears that it is not on.ly older but
larger than orig‘mally thought
Enclosed are two photogmp]ls taken
by Miller. Apparently these are the
only ones that he has in color,
therefore, he ]aas asked that you
return them.' He planﬂ to continue
the work tomoerrow and ke tells me
that it will take an additional week or
ten days of digging. He tells me that
he is getting quite a bit of material
from the "occupation level” but as
you know it is going to take a long
time sorting it out (letter from Miﬂ)y
Burton to Mrs. Fredric Pratt [
Webel], dated June 21, 1965).

By July 20, Burton was writing Webel
thanking her for the "more than generous check" and
reporting that when Miller returned from vacation he
would return to Old FHouse to spend "a day . . . taking
levels” before he started on his drawings. Going on, he
once again mentions the age of the house:

What he has apparently found is of
great interest and is probably older
than first thought. He mentioned he
thoug}ﬁ: the first house would date
1730-40. [t is going to take a lot of
time sorting and Jating the material
he hes ]arought back. T noticed some
good grade pottery in it (letter from
Milby Burton to Mrs. Fredrio Pratt
[-Webel}, dated July 20, 1965).

That same day, Brantley wrote Webel:

John Miller worked here on the
excavation, | think, 27 days. This

! These photographs were apparently rehurned since
several color photographs were identified m The Charleston
Museum's collections from the site. Unfortunately, they were
early Polaroid p]:otograpl:s and the clye.s were so upstable that
todﬂytheimages a:teyust]:mel}'m]::le A]:sa]':.rtelyno detail or
other useful information can be obtained from these images.
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was pot all at one time but at
different times when he would come
on the weekend and work on Sunday.
Most of the time he had two l:oys
and Mr. Farr to help him. He found
a knob off of a dresser drawer
s]:lowing that someone was occupying
the house. He found a steel wedge
that was in goo& s}:ape, the lock in
the font door, lu'nges and hand
wrougl:d: nails and pleces of china and
bottles (letter from J.L.. Brantley to
Mis. F.R. Pratt [-Webel], dated July
20, 1965).

In late 1965 The Charleston Museum public
relations department (which epparently consisted of a
single individual, M. Mary Armstrong) began to
generate media attention in the site, On November 13,
1965 the News and Courier Pro&ucec]. a short, one
column article. Miller indicates that the wozk began
that spring and would continue "later this fall" (which
they apparently did not). He went on to explain:

"Discovery of the foundation was
made by the owner of the property,
Harry Cooler of Ridgeland when he
selected that exact site for his new
house. The eite is on a knoll with
marsh behind # and a mill ponc}.
nea.t}:ly. The miller could have owned -
the house, so until we uncover more,
we cannot say that it definitely
Lelougec}. to Heywar&," Miller
expla:mec!. What has been determined
thus far, the arcl’laeologist said, is
that the house was approximately 50
by 60 feet with a basement level of
brick and two additional levels or
floors of frame construction. This is
evident from the thickness of the
rernaining walls and the shutter tie-
backs and nails unearthed. . . . "The
houge appa::en‘dy was burned cluring
the Civil War and underwent
extensive remo&eling sometime
around the turn of the century.
Ongmal construction occurred in or
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around 1760," he said ("131:}1
Century House Being Excavated,"
Charleston [S.C.] News and Courier,
November 11, 1965).

This was followed by a much longer article, complete
with three photographs, in early December. This second
article, howeve:r, adds relat'wely little to our
understanding of the work or the discoveries. It is again
mentioned that the recovered items don't seem to pre-
date about 1760, leaving about a 10 to 20 year gap
between Damiel Heyward's arrivel and the house
construction. The article notes t]nat, "Miller and Burton
theorize that Daniel Heywar& first may have built a
small house acljacent to the ]Jig house, in which he lived
until the big house was completed,” although no such
stracture had yet been found. Three photographs were
publishecl and there are at least thres others talzen, but
not used. These show the remains of a rice mill in the
marsh, the Heyward grave yard, and the Museum's

excavations which had appa:rently been left open since
late ]uly.z

In April 1966 Cooler released owmership of the
collection, apparently to Webel (lotter from Harry B.
Cooler, Jr. to Mrs. F.R. Pratt[-Webel), dated April 4,
1966). Meanwhile, The Charleston Museum had
producecl a catalog of the excavations, c].lsb.ngms]:lmg
three zoneg — an uppemmost "surface or disturhed lavel,”
an intermediate "ash Ievel," and the lower-most
"occupation level." At some point these artifacts were
returned ]Jy The Chadleston Museum to Mrs. Webel,
further re-enforcin.g that she claimed ownersl:iip of the

w zAneEFortLaB]Jeenmadetolocatetlzenegaﬁv&B{or
these photographs, however the photo librarian for the News
and Courier indicates that there is no record of the
pl:lotograplas. She suggests that since they were taken ]Jy the
reporter, Roy Attaway, he Prolla]aly retained the negatives
when he left the paper (Mary Crocket, perﬁonal
communication 1996).The South Carolina Institute of
Archaeology and Anthropology, however does have an original
8x10 print of one photograph, which shows what appears to
be a c]limney £Doi:u:lg Althoug]: difficult to interpret, the
i?otogragz suggests that the excavations were not deeper thaun

out a taot.

materials.’ The July 1967 Heyward Family Bulletin
announced the work that had been done two years
eatlier and noted that many artifacts had been

IeCDVEIEd:

These items have been cata}.oguecl
and many c].mwings have been made.
We J:IOpe that all of these records will
be published when funds become
available U{&:‘y'zmm:lz Fami]g Bulletin,
vol. 2, no. 1, July 1967).

Like far too many atchaeological projects, both
then and today, no report was ever producecl and it
seems that most of the people involved {orgot about the
work. Certainly Miller went on to excavate other sites
(nome of which were ever published) and Webel
appa.rent[y became interested in other historical topics.
It appears that it was after the initial visit [J}'
archaeologist Ken Lewis in 1980 that she gave the
collection to the South Carolina Institute of
Aschacology and Anthropology.* The collection remains
at the South Carolina Institute of Archaeology and has
recently been cataloged.

3 While it may ke that The Charleston Museum
retained a few objects they have no accession records for any
materials from Old House Plantation (Ma.rtlxa Zierden,

personal communication 1996).

* There is some confusion regarclmg this collection.
The South Carolina Institute -of Archaeology and
Antl:u'opology can locate no paper work m&:mahng when or
why they obtained the materials. Likewies, our careful search
of the Wehel collection at the Ridgeland library failed to
i&ent&y any record of the co]]ecﬁon's tranafer. In fact, the
local legencl had been that the materials were at the Jasper
Museum. We discovered that the Museum does have a few
itermns from the aite, while the L]:ra:y Las what mi.g];t be
described as a "type collection” of materials excavated from the
site. These items are clm‘ignated 1 t]:IO'L‘lgll 50 on a list with
the hand written ]:learlmg "Frem Charleston Museum — List
— Mr. Miller — Old House — Heyward” Of these jterns all
but three are still present. Those missing include a glass bead
{to the side of which is the notation, "Miller," suggesting that
he had borrowed the item); a bottle fragment, with the
notation, "missing"; and what iz described as "hat insignia or

coat of arms hat ornament (¢. Mexican Waz)."
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Old House As Revealed by the Excavations

The feld notes which have survived from the
excavations may, cbarital)ly, be described as abbreviated.
We learn from them that Miller excavated the site in
three zones: the surface or disturbed zone, ove:lying the
aeh or bum zone, cvex:lying the occupation zone. These
levels were apparent}y defined both on the basis of soil
and clep’cl:l.

The uppermost disturbed zone consisted of the
artifacts which were strewn about the site by the initial
bulldozer passes. It appears that this initial zone was not
screened, but rather consisted of materials piclzed up Ly
unit and per]mps collected as the loose fill was shoveled

out.

Below this was the "ash zome," easily
c]:istingu.isl'led on the }:as15 cf the clmrcoal, ash, laume&
plaster, nails, and architectural debris, with Miller's
accounts clear].}r suggdesting that he excavated t]:lmu.g]l
the intact deposits of the Heyward mansion collapsing
inward on itself. This deposit varied from about 2-
inches to almost 6-inches in depth. This level produced
almost exclusively architectural remains, strongly
sugdesting that the house burned empty, but still in
goo& shape (that is it had not been strippecl prior to
burning, suggesting that it was still being cared for).
This would seem to support the contention that it was
burned toward the end of the Civil War.

The occupation zone {sometimes describe in
the notes as the OP IeveI) below this was appa:enﬂy
removed in something approaching 3-inch levels. It
appears that the excavations did not extend more than
a foot below the ground surface, terminating on top of
architectural remains such as brick floors and
foundations. This zone exhibited a wide range of
artifacts — ceramics, tobacco pipe stems;, ta.f:rleware,
lzi{:chenware, architectural remains, and toolﬂ, althoug]:t
missing or exceed.i.ngly rare are smaller ariifacts, sach as
buttons, thimbles, needles. The collection suggests that
Miller collected materials from this zone ]:ry hand
sorting, perhaps by troweling, but may not have
screened the excavated fill. Altemai:'rvely, he may have
used a Ya-mesh.

The excavation units were 5 by 10 foot

rectangles, designated 1 through 17 and then often sub-
designated A and B (although not all units were sub-
designated or had both an A and B designation). A map
was located in the Charleston Museum files revealing
the location of many squares. The remaining squares
were evenmally identified based on references in the
field notes (Figure 7). As can be seen, these units are in
no logical order and without the identification of this
map and field notes it would be impossﬂ)le to ever
reconstruet the excavations.

Although Miller established 2 datum (an iron
pipe) at the northwest corner of the cemetexy wall (this
pipe is still in existence), we can find no evidence that
he used it for vertical comtzol. Its only function seems to
have been to provicle horizontal control for the creation
of an overall site map.

In Miller's field notes there is a tantalizing one
page lisﬁ_ng of artifacts recovered from "kit" which is
appa:enﬂy a second explore& Lu:lclmg thought to be a
Litchen. No units are identified and only two "levels” are
reported — "surface” and "op. level 3 inches - 9 inches."
This suggests that the “disturbed level was the upper 3-
inches of the Litchen area, with one additional level
excavated to a Jep’c]:l of just under a foot. Com.l’Jined,
these lilze}y account for the A soil horizon of brown
san&y loam overlying the yellow sand subsoil at the site.
A.l’chm.tgh these artifacts were not incorporatec]. into the
Museum’s catalog, tl:tey are present in the collections.

Although it is extraorc]ina:i]y difficult to
interpret Miller's very incomplete notes and drawings
over 30 years after the fact, tlley do provicle a.'l:a:lta.]jzing
view of the Heyward mansion. Ignoring the comments
made to the media and Iool'ziug exc].usively at the
evidence provicle& in the Jrawing we can see two
pro]:a]:le struchures.

];i]zely the "front" or main, formal entrance to

. the mansion faced south, toward the water. There the

flared stair supporls were found, revealing stairs 1eac1ing
from the ground up to a piazza or porcl: which extended
across the front and along much of the sides of the fimst
floor, above the basement. Below, or under, the piazza
were brick ﬂoors. Ar the “rear" of the }:I.O‘LISE, which faced
north toward the southermn oak a.llée, was a smaﬂ, less
formal, porch measuring about 5 by 12 feet, with
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Figure 7. Plan of 1965 excavations at Old House, showing unit designations {courtesy of The Charleston Mugeum, Charleston, South Carolina).
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ascenc]ing staizs. The house itself appears to have
measured about 50 feet in lengtl‘l and about 37 feet in
width. Most of the basement I)acl'only an earthen floor,
althongh the rear portion had a very well laid brick floor.

Miller also left 2 site map prmficling additional
clues and hints (Figure 8). It is important since it
locates features that are no longer present. He shows
the oak allée running south from SC 462 essentially
terminating at the front of the house. He notes that an
"old road bed" begins west of the house, extends south
into the mawh, then toms west and extends to 5C 462,
This was the second avenue which has been mentioned
in the historic texts and which is shown on at least one
map of the site.

The main allée is still present (Figure 8) and
consists of trees ranging from only 28-inches in
diameter breast height {dbh) to 79-inches. According
to P.O. Mead, III of Mead's Tree Service, Ino. the age
dlass of 50- to 60-inches dbh is 180 to 220 years,
while the age class of those trees from 61- to 85-inches
dbh is 220 to 260 years. This suggests that while we are
seeing some frees which have reseeded from the original
plantings, the original trees in the allge were plan’cecl
perhaps as early as 1735 (P.O. Mead, I1I, personal
communication 1995). This seems consistent with the
idea that Daniel Heywa.rcl pro]aal:ly ]:egan his p].antation
shortly after his father's death in 1736/7 and before his
marriage in 1743.

Careful examination of the placement of these
trees suggests that the allée may have come to the main
house and then spht off to the southwest, per}naps tying
into Miller's old roadbed. This would explain the
accasional historic accounts which mention that Old
House had two avenues of oaks.

About 100 feet to the west of the main house

Mi.uer idenﬁfied a "191:]1 cen. house site" which
consisted of what he identified as 2 c}ﬁmney and several
wall sections.” About 70 feet to the north of this were
t]ae xuins of what he ca.ue& the "smoke house," while

% This struchire was reidentified during Chicora’s
1994 investigations just north of 180R100. It appears to be
a flanker to the main honse {Trinkley and Hacker 1996:84).

100 feet further west was a brick rubble pile he thought
represented another building.” About 300 feet west of
the main house was what he thought mjgl-xt be the
stable, consisting of a brick rubble pile and another
cllimney }Jase.?

About 180 feet to the east of the main house
is the cemetery and at the northwest corner Miller
shows his "1%42" iron pipe" datum.

From this map we get an exceptional view of
the plantation landscape. Structures appear to have
been oriented almost due north-south and were placecl
in an east-west alignment across the sandy rise:
cemetery, main house, flanker {what Miller called his
nineteenth century house), smoke house, and stable.
Although we should he Bkepﬁcal about all of his
functional designations, the picture provides us of the
Old House la.uclscaPe is very irnportant.

But the map provides yet additional
information, revea]jn.g the location of ballast stone in
Ha.zarr.l Creek, a remnant &am, a mill site, & pOssﬂnle
waxetzxouse, a rermmnant caxml, two "cl’xi:nney Lases™ and
additional lines of posts. In other words, Miller gives up
a very clear picture of exceptional activities in the marsh

. south of OH House. The plantation, its [andscape,'and

its work areas are not constrained Ly ]:ug]n ground, but
extend out into the wetlands. Previous investigations at
Old House have documented these additional features

and found that most remain in excellent condition. The

1996 investigations identified the old ]a.ndulg rcacl, at

® This smokehouse appears to also he what Miller
described as a kitchen. It is still extant, bt is situated off the
property owned by Jasper County. The other structure has
also heen 1&3:11:15&:1, although it, too, is off the County
property (Trinkley and Hacker 1996:86).

? Both the steble and chimuney base are today
thought to be in the rear yard of & house on SC 462. They
have not been further investigsted (Trinkley and Hacker
1966:86).

8 Previous investigations have revealed these to be
small foundations, measuring 5.8 feet square and 5.2 by 5.4
fest (Trinkley and Hacker 1996:88). Their function has not
been determined.
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ascencliug stairs, The house itself appeatrs to have
measured about 50 feet in length and about 37 feet in
width. Most of the basement had omly an earthen floor,
a.lthoug}:l the rear portion had a very well laid brick floor.

Miller also left a site map p::ovid.ing additional
clues and hints (Figure 8). It is important since it
locates features that ate no longer present. He shows
the oak allée running south from SC 462 essentially
terminating at the front of the house. He notes that an
"old road bed” begins west of the house, extends south
into the maxsh, then turns west and extends to SC 462.
This was the second avenue which has been mentioned
in the historic texts and which is shown on at least one
map of the site.

The main allée is stll present (Figure 8) and
comsists of trees ranging from only 28-inches in
diameter breast height {dbh) to 79-inches. According
to P.O. Mead, ITI of Mead's Tree Service, Ine. the age
class of 50- to 60-inches dbh is 180 to 220 years,
while the age class of those trees from 61- to 85-inches
dbh 16 220 to 260 years. This suggests that while we are
seeingd some irees which have reseeded from the original
planﬁngs, the original trees in the allée were pla.ntecl
perhaps as early as 1735 (P.O. Mead, III, personal
comrmunication 1995). This seerns consistent with the
idea that Daniel Heyward probably begaun his plantation
sllortl'y after his father's death in 1736/7 and before his
marriage in 1743.

Careful examination of the placement of these
trees suggests that the allée may have come to the main
house and then split off to the southwest, perhaps tying
into Miller's old roadbed. This would explain the
ogeasional historic accounts which mention that Old
House hed two avenues of caks.

About 100 feet to the west of the main house
Miller identified a "19th cen. bouse site” which
consisted of what he identified as a cllimney and several
wall sections.’ About 70 feet to the north of this were
the ruins of what he called the “smoke house,” while

® This structure was reidentified Juring Chicora's
1996 investigations just north of 180R100. It appears to be
a fanker to the main house (Trinkley and Hacker 1996:84).

100 feet further west was a brick rubble pile he thonght
represented another building.® Ahout 300 feet west of
the main house was what he thought rn.ig]at be the
stal)le, consisting of a brick rubble Pile and ancther

chimney base.”

About 180 fect to the east of the main house
is the cemetery and at the northwest corner Miller
shows his "1Y4" izon pipe” datum.

From this map we get an exceptional view of
the pla.utatim hn&scape. Structures appear to have
been oriented almost due north-south and were placecl
in an east-west alignment across the sandy rise:
cemetery, main house, flanker {(what Miller called his
nineteenth century house), smoke house, and stable.
Altl:xough we should be E]Eeptical about all of his
functional clesigna.tions, the picture proviclﬁ us of the
Old House ].anascapa is very important.

But the map provides yet additional
iJ:l.{orm.aﬁon, revea.ling the location oE ballast stone in
Hazard Creelz, a remnant J.am, a mill site, a possﬂ)le
warehouse, a remnant canal, two "chimney bases™ and
additional lines of posts. In other words, Miller gives up
a very clear picture of exceptional activities in the marsh
south of Old House. The pla:l:\ta’cion, ils lantlscape,’ and
its work areas are not constrained ]:ry ]:ugl: ground, but
extend out into the wetlands. Previous investigations at
Old House have documented these additional features
and found that most remain in excellent eondition. The
1996 investigations identified the old landing road, at

® This srmokehouse appears to also be what Miller
described as a kitchen. It s still extant, but is situated off the
property owned by Jasper County. The other structure has
also been iclanl:i.{:iecl, alt]:ougli it, too, is off the County
property (Trinkley and Hacker 1996:86).

7 Both the stable and chimzey base are today
thought to be in the rear yard of a house on SC 462. They
have not been further investigatea:l {Tnnlcley and Hacker
1996:86).

8 Previous investigations have revealed these to be
small foundations, measuring 5.8 feet square and 5.2 by 5.4
feet (Trinkley and Hacker 1996:88). Their function has not
been determined.
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Figure 9. Topographic map of Old House showing the features identified during the 1996 Chicora investigations.
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least four distinct plan]t roads in the marsh, the two
previously mentioned small brick buildings, a 34 by 20
foot structure in the marsh pla.ca& on pi]j.ngs, a 45 ]Jy
33 {oot structure in the marsh tlmugllt to represent the
tidal rice miu, red sandstone gate supports, and a bucied
wood trunk (Trinkley and Hacker 1996: 86-91). Also
present are several remnant dikes and channels, as well
as additional evidence of marsh structures.

In spite of the importance of Miller's £|.nc]s,
Old House and his excavations were nearly forgotten,
l)eing leept alive l:)y a small group of Heywaxcl
descendants and local historians.
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THE ARTIFACTS AND WHAT THEY MEAN

What we find at p].ani:a:tion sites like Old
House usually falls into three groups — those things
that were thrown away (pa::haps because they were
broken or no longer needed), those things that were
accidenizﬂy lost, and those items wlnch enter the
arc]laeological record t]:lrcrugh some sort of clisaster,
such as a fire. For examg]e, a plai:e is broken and it is
taken out to the marsh eclge end slung into the muck,
or it rmgl'xt be taken to a privy and tossed in. Either
way, the goa.l is to c].ispose of an object that is broken,
worn out, or no longer needed. In contrast, a button
pops off a shirt and rolls on the floor until it finds a
crack in the floor boards and drops into the soil below
the house, or a nail is dropped on the grcuncl in the
course of a repair and isn't picked up. In these
exarnplaa, the artifact enters the nrchaeological record
more or less unintentionally, And finally, a house bums
down and whatever is in it is auc}.clenly sealed, creating a
type of time capsule.

Old House includes examples of all three types
of artifacts. For ex,ample, those recovered l:ry Miller
from his accupation level may include small items that
simply c]roppecl from view. And it almost certainly
inchides a wide variety of ceramics that were broken and
just got kicked underfoot. When Old House burned it
created the third type of deposit — a “Hime capsule” of
what was in the house at that particular moment, While
some items migl:xt have been salvagecl later, we can view
this zone or'-:leposit a little d‘:EEerently.

Although the pu]:]ic often perceives of
archaeologists as having an inordinate interest in other
people’s trash, this focuses on the object, on the thing.
In reality archaeologists are concerned with what this
t]:u'ng — this piece of broken porceIain, for example _—
can tell us about how peopla lived. So while the object
is studied, the goal of that stuc}.y is fax more exciting:
tal‘.:ing those bits and pieces of the past and creating out
of them someﬂﬁng approaching the reality of every&ay

life.

To accomplish this goal of lm.nglng the past to
life, a:chaeolagists use & variety of analytical methods.
One of the first concerns, of course, is to iclenti{:y all of
the various bits and pieces of rabhish. To this end a
variety of books on everything from ceramics to period
liglnting to farm i.mplemen‘l:s are necessary to ]:Lelp us
understand the whole ol:ject when we have only a small
&agmen’c.

Ne:d:, these o]:'jects must somehow be groupecL
or ar:ange&, in a manner that both makes sense and
also ]nelps us organize our t]noug}:lts about what tbey
mean. One of the most common approaches has heen
to use the various functional groups of Kitchen,
Aschitecture, Furniture, Petsonal, Clothing, Arms,
Tobacco, and Activities developed by Stanley South
(1977). These serve to subdivide historic assemblages
into groups which could reflect behavioral categories. In
other words, Kitchen Group artifacts include things that
migl'ﬁ. be found in, or used in, s kitchen — cexamics,
table glass, serving pieces, and bottles. Axchitectural
artifects are those associated with Luﬂ&ings — naﬁs,
Lj_nges, door locks, and even p].a.ater remains. Initiaﬂy
developed for eighteenth-century British colonial
a.ssemblages, this approacl: is an excellent choice J:‘cu-
Old House, which is alse thought to contain a major
eighteenth century component.

But South's artifact groups are useful for mare
than simply arrenging lists of artifacts. When
collections from different sites — and different kinds of
sites — are cornpa.reclwe can often see differences in the
proportions of the different types of artifacts that the
occupants Foaseased. For exa.mple, wealt}ny plantem
tended to possess more personal artifacts (pocket knives,
watches, writing instruments, and jewe].ry than did
slaves. Arxchaeologists tln‘ougl'x time have develope& a
series of “patterns” for different types of sites and their
occupants. Table 1 compares the ariifact patterns of
four different site types. The Revised Carclins Axtifact
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Pattern is often seen at eighteenth and early nineteenth
century low country p].antations. The Town House
Pattern was developed from excavations at the
Charleston town houses of wealthy plantets and, while
similar o the Carolina Artifact Pattern, tends to
even more wealth and

consumption.

represent comnspicuous

At the opposite end of the spectrum is the
Carolina Slave Artifact Pattern, which represents the
collections ’cypica]}y found at eig]:d:eeuth century slave
sites. The Georgia Slave Artifact Pattern represents
nineteenth century slave sites. One of the Liggest
differences hetween these last two is the varying
proportion of kitchen and architectural iterns. At
eighteenth century slave sites the architecture was very
epl-lemera.l and relatively few mails or hinges were
present. By the nimeteenth century there were cliﬂerent,
some say less African inspired, housing {orms and the
proportion of architectural items, especmﬂy nails,
increased r}:amaﬁcauy.

at Old House compare to the manner planters were

]ivi.ng in Chadeston? How much better was his llfestyle
than that of typical slaves?

Axnother useful apptoach for the archaeologist
trying to understand how individuals lived is to examine
the ceramics they had. We know that many ceramics
rluri::.g the seventeenth, eighteenth, and nineteenth
centuries went thrcru.gh pexioc]s where t]:ey were available
to on}y the wealthiest, then prices clrop and the wares
are more widely available, and then, gracluauy, they fall

out o£ favor.

Some ceramics, ]:Lowever, are of special
interest. In pa.rticula.r, Porce].a.ins seern to have been a
clear status indicator. At Charleston plantations of
reduced wealth, such as Elfe (Trinkley 1985:27),
Magnolia (Wayne and Dickinson 1990:11-10), and
Green Grove (Camillo 1980:Table 2), porcelains range
from sbout 6% to 9%. At the early nineteenth century
Qatland Plantation on the Waccamaw Neck this &mps

as low as ahout 4%

By comparing the collection of artifacts from
Old House to these previously established patterns we
can cbtain a better idea of how Daniel Heyward
organizecl his household. Didhe bive a ]ife, even on lns
rural plantation, of lavish JisPIay or did he live 2 more
secluded life that focused on the management and
success of his p[a.nting interests? How does his life s'l:y'le
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(Trinkley 1993a:43}. At

Table 1 Drayton Hall, certainly

. . . ) . one of the wealthier

Previously Published Artifact Patterns (numbers in percents) plantations along the

Revised Carolina ~ Chucleston Carolina Slave Geergia Slave South  Carolina low

_ Artifact Pattern®  Termnheoune Profile* Artifact Prttern® Artifact Pattern® _ country, porce].aim are
Kitchen 51.8.65.0 58.4 70.9-84.2 20.0-25.8 rted to tf

Architesture 25.2-31.4 360 11.8.24.8 67.9.732 repo agcount tor

Fuumniture 0.2.0.6 02 0.1 0.0-0.1 only 9.7% of the

Arms 0.1-03 0.3 0.1.03 0.0-02 European ceramic

Tobaceo 1.9.13.9 2.8 2454 0.3.9.7 collection (Lewis
Clothing 0.6.5.4 09 030.8 0.3-1.7 1978:199). At  th

Pesonal 0205 0.2 01 0.1:02 e :

Activities 0.9-17 1.1 0209 0.2-0.4 nearby Archdale Hall

o _ Plantation, Zierden et al.

*Garrow 1982 (1985:103) report the

“Garpow ;;gz 1989 porcelains account for

Singleton 1980 about 13% of the

ceramic collection. And

at Broom Hall

Plantation, porcela.ins

account for nearly 20% of the ceramics being used.

In Charleston's townhouses — the social
re’Euge of the wealth plantem away from their p]antations
during the sic]zly season — Zierden and Grimes
{1989:97) observe that porcelains and transfer printed
CC wares combined account for about 22% of the
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ceramics. They observe that the quantity of John
Rutledge bouse porcelain, which accounts for 27.6% of
the ceramic assemblage, is ]:u.gll even for wealthy
households (Zierden and Grimes 1989:95). The Gibbes
House, characterizing "Georgian opulence,” evidenced
an assemblage consisting of 10.6% porcelain (Ziexden
et al. 1987:76).But why were porcelains so important?

The late seventeenth and early eig]:rl:eenth
centuries were times of dramatic social change. And
these social changes were intertwined with changes in
the way material objects were perceivecl, and used. A
range of events — loweﬁng prices, greater prosperity,
increased marketing — all came together at once and
spurtecl the pul:lic to spend more lamsl:lly Material
objects — luxuries —— that at one time had been
available only to the wealthiest and most elite, were
suddenly heing used I:ry the middle class. Items that had
at one time been syml)ols of the rulmg class’ power and
wealth became more WldBIy' available. The result was a
race for new syml)ols As one author explains ; “the elite
raced off for new social symbols; the middling ranks
ga]lope& after them; even the poorer sorts foggecl along,
at least to the clegree that their economic abilities
enabled them” (Martin 1994:171).

Archaeologist James Deetz (1977:60-61)
observes that at least by 1780 the porcela:n found in
colonial inventories "is largely limited to "tea sets, and
pro]:-a}JIy demonstrates the a.&option of the full-blown
Eng]ish tea ceremony {or the first time. This custom
can be considered a goorl indicator of the re-
Anglicization process that was at work at the time."
Henry Hobhouse (1987) describes this ritual, as well as
the ceramics associated with it, "The cighteenth century
Europeans, like the Japanese but unlike the Chinese or
the Russians, regarded tea making s a ceremony. There
was the ]JO]]JD.E water, not hoiled for too long. There was
the s-pecially warmed pot. There was the infusion time.
There was the pouring, a little bit of a ceremony all on
its own" (Hobhouse 1987:1 11). This cerernony, and its
representations in Englis]a axt, has been described in
detail by Rodris Roth (1961).

In one view, as the middle class became more
able to afford (and be willing to pay for} porcelains, the
chite “raised the bar.” As Martin explained the new
rules, “not only must one now own a proper set of

accoutrements for smart living, but know a complex set
of zules on how to use them” {Martin 1994:171), The
eig]ateenth century ushered in the age of geni:i]jty and
the Enghsh gentry, even those ’transplante& to Cam].ina,
Legan to spend inordinate amounts of money to ensure
that sons were educated in Englan& and they a.cquired
the finest of the most current tastes.

To this interpretation Richard Waterhouse
(1989) adds the structure of values in Carolina society,
noting that "the behavior patterns of the wealthy
eightaenth—ceni:ury Carolinians were based on luxuricus
]_hn'.ng and imitation of upper—c].ass Eng].lsh taste and
manners" (Waterhouse 1989:103). He suggests the
reasons for this "exaggerated imitation of the . . .
English gentry" (including the adaption of the tea
cerernony) were complex, but seem to involve the high
mortality of the new co]ony, the loug—esta]:llshed links
between Carolina's elite and the English gentry, the
close trading (and economic) ties hetwsen the two
groups, and the desire for the Carolina elite to establish
iteelf as a m].m.g glass which was rigi&ly hierarchical and
mobi]ity was severely limited. In sum, they sought to
protect their status from the rapicuy rising middle class.

Waterhouse also contends that the "black
majority” of Carolina "cleepene& the psychological need
for South Carolinians to adhere to the normative values
of Bnglish culture" (Waterhouse 1989:108). The tea

Iitual, and the associated very expensive 1mpor|:e&
porcelaius wexe one aspect of this overll Process.

So at sites such as Old House we can explore
the proportion of porcelajns, loolaing at the forms and
types present and try to reconstruct the mind set of
Daniel Heyward. Did he, like his son's colleague,
George Washington, insist on having only the newest
and finest patterns?

But there are additional ways in which
archaeologists can look critically at collections. For
example, flatwares (plates) will predominate high status
tableware coHections, especially comparecl to lower
status sites, where "one-pot meals" dominated coo]zing
and there were more hollowware {bowl) forms. Even the
decoration of vessels can be used to explore the owner's
wealth. Research suggdests that wares with transfer
printng and hand painting tended, through time, to be
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more expengive, than those with more A1 excavetion's sponsor. Some of these
simple decoration such as annular and £ T 82 L u.ndou.]:tecﬂy wound up in the Pratt-
edged wares (see Otto 1984:61-65; see .Mm:.lug om Webel Collection at the Ridgeland
also Miller 1980, 1991 for discussions Provenienced Bags Library. Others, however, can no longer
of pricing}. Zierden and her colleagues . be found.

have noted that in the whan setting table | Coremes 451

glass (expressed as a percent of the Glaii 5 Table 2 details the items which,
Kitchen Group artifacts) is a status Axchitectural 8 according to the original catalog, should
indicator. Late eighteant]:. century Tobaoco 12 be in proveniencecl i:ags, but which
townhouse settings may have ranges Azms 3 aren't. The ceramics were the most
around 1% to 2.3%, while more P].awer Po_t frags. 3 commonly items shifted around and
micﬂling status sites have ranges under Curtain ring L combined, but there are other items
1%. Although the differences are not as Button 1 missing ag well. In pa.rticrula.r, it seems
clramatic, this distinction seems to be Toc,thbfush 1 }Jlaehr that the Lut-’con, toothl:rush, and
found on rural plnn’cations as well. ,?‘::i pin 4 Sé brass pin may have been given away.

A Few Words of Warning

No archseological collection is perfect. Not all
tb.ings that an individual has are thrown avay. Not all
t]:liu.gs that are thrown away are pmemcl. Not all
things that are preservecl are recovered. And not all
t]:niugs that are recovered are cortectl'y mterpretecl. At
Old House these prol:iems are even more trou]:ling
since we kmow so little about how the archa;aological
excavations were conducted. Was the soil screened? Was
everything observed collected? Have all of those
materials found their way to ws? In most cases we
simply don’t know. We could make judgements, based
on experience at other sites, but might these
ju ents, themselves, contain hiases?

In addition, at Old House the collections were
origi.n.a.u'y analyzed in a most unusual manner. All of the
ceramics of a similar type were phymcal}y lumpecl
together. That ig, they were faken out of their
Pprovenience bags and thrown in & ]:ig pile. This has
resulted in many artifacts losing their provenience. We
no longer know emc'tly what wait this paxﬁcula: piece of
ceramic came from — and while the catalog may
indicate that there were “three &agments of blue cl::il:l.ﬂ.,.ﬂ
we mnow 1onger can be certain exactly what this
Jescrip’cion means.

And ﬁna]}y, not all of the materials which were
originaﬂy reporke& are still in the collection. There are
notes that some objects — pro}aa]:tly representative, or
“nice” examples were retajned l)y “Mis. P,” the
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As a Ieault, it has been

necessary to handle the collection a little

differently. In many cases we have simply lumped

materials, since it didn't seem possible to achieve a more

sophisﬁcated ana.lysis. In other cases we made

assumptions about what an item might have beﬂu, or

have tried to match an original cata.log c].&ecripﬁon with
a ﬂoaﬁng ol:vject that had lost its provenience.

None of these are the best practices, but they
are what you do when desling with an old collection. We
bave tried to avoid malzi.ng our assumptions too }:«roa&,
or our imterpretations too speci.Eic. N evertheless, the
reader should be aware that sometimes the collection
just won't allow us to address some research goal that
seems ohvious, perhaps even essentisl.

In spite of these limitations we believe that the
4325 artifacts from Daniel Heyward's Old House
provicle an e-.xceptional view of this life. The number of
items increases to 6720 if we add those items which no
longer retain their provenience, but which are almost -
cer‘t.ai.nly from the mein house {as opposell to the
kitchen, which was also explored). Add to this the
specimens which are today missing, and the number
climbs to 8030.

The Kitchen Aszemblase at Old House

The Old House collection (including both
provenience& and unproveuienced materials, as well as

materials missing but identifiable} included 1232
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ceramics, representing near[y a quarter of the kitchen

asseml:la.ge.

Ta}::le 3. ’
Major Types of Datable Pottery

Potcelain 99 8.0%
Stoneware 25 2.0%

Bmwn 2

Blue/Gray 4

White 18

Other 1
Earthenware 1108 90.0%

Slipware 249

Refined 10

Coarse 1
_ Delft 67

Creamware 349

Pearlware 287

Whiteware 125

Yellowware 20

The major types of ceramics are shown in

Table 3, revealing that tablewares, such as the

porcelains, white salt glazecl stonewares, delfl:,
creamwares, ancl p-earlwares, account j1:01.' over 99% 01:
the ceramics. Utilitarian W’EIIES,l such as the browm
stonewares and Buclzley wares, account for less than 1%
of the collection.

The most common eigl'lteenth century pottery
is the lead glazerl slipwaxe, accounting for 240 examples.
Slipware was a traditional eighteenl‘l‘l century form of
pottery decoration in which a white or cream-colored

slip is trailed over an buff or red earthenware laoc}y A
clear lead glazec[ slip is then appliecl before Enng
Exarnples of pinle and buff ﬁrecl—clay bodies were
encountered. Peter Walton describes these wares as
“Country pottery,” emphasizing their modest and
unpretentious Ijacizgrouncl. Often the wares are

' Utilitarian wares are those used in food
preparation and storage. Tlley ty'picaﬂy include stonewares and
coarse earthenwares, but exclude Colono ware, hecause of the
possible ethnic differences in food preparation and
consumplion practices.

discussed according to the methods of decoration, with
Wrotham used to describe appliecl pacls of clay and
trailed slip on a red body, North Staffordshire used to
c].istingu.iﬂh trailed red and brown siip on a white slip
grouncl, and West Country to indicate a kind of
sgraffito design done wet or dry on the pottery (Walton
1976:8]. Ivor No#l Hume notes that these wares are
usua”.y found as dishes and single—hancled mugs with
bulbous bodies and sl:rai.ght collar necks {No&l Hume

1969a:104).

Delft accounts for 67 specimens at Old
House, making it the third most common eighteenth
century ware, This pottery, sometimes Lknown as tin
enamel, has a paie yellow or pinla l)orly coated with a
lead glaze containing tin oxides which turn white in
f'izing. The wares could be painted, most often with a
cobalt blue, a.h:hough a variety of other colors are also
known, before firing. By the late seventeenth century
delftware potters were creating mugs, jugs, candlesticks,
vases, chamber pots, wa.sl:l:asins, drug pots, and plates.
Pseudo-Chinese mol:ifs, human {igures, and birds are
among the more common &esign elements that
continue into the eighteenth century.

As Noi#l Hume cbserves, these delftwares
aH:emptecl to compete with Chinese porcelains and so
Chinese designs begin to dominate the collections l)y
the early eighteenth century (No&l Hume 1969a:110-
111} While cups quiclzly lost favor with the pul:lic,
plal:es, serving vessels, and punch bowls tended to
remain popular into the fimst few years of the nineteenth
century. In general, however, the delfts at Old House
are typical of those lJeing pro-clucecl in the mid-
eig}:teentl'l century.

The next most common ware is Chinese
porcelain. OFf the 99 fragments identified, 73 are still
present in the collection as either Proveniencecl or
unproveniencecl materials. The m_atetia]s present include
13 exampl% of English porcelain and 86 specimensl of
importe& Chinese potcela.ins.

While the first Chinese porcelain to reach
Amorica came cluring the sixteenth century, political
upheavals in China eliminated the trade between 1657
and 1683 {Palmer 1976:10). The English were the
{:iIBt to re-open tracling of:Eices in Cl’lina, in tlle first two
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Figure 10. Ceramics used by Daniel Heywarcl in the eighteentl'l century. A-D, lead glazed slipware; E-H, blue hand paintecl delft; 1-], famr’fl’e rose enameled
overglaze Chinese porcelain; K-L, enameled overglazecl Chinese porcelain; M-N, blue on white Chinese porcelain cup with brown rim; O-P,
blue on white Chinese porcelai.n; Q,_Ero]::al)le English porcelain.
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decades of the eighteent}z century (Vainker 1991:153).
During this early period the British traded ginseng for
porcelain — in and of itself an interesting story of
mercantile greed. American ginseng was gathered Ly
Native Americans for sale to the Dutch Vereenigde
Qestindische Compagnie (VO(Q), which in tun was
sold to the British East India Company at a 500%
profit. The ginseng was then tmnsporte& to China
where it was held in very Iugh regard to relieve fatigue
and infirmities of old age. So greatly was the pla.nt
esteerned in China that the native species could be
gatlnere& anly under the privilege of the Emperor‘ The
Americen ginseng offered an alternative, although it was
prone to gluts and was alwnys seen as inferior to the
Chinese species (Millspaugh 1974:277; Schiffer et al.
1980:15).

Through time the trading mainstays turmed to
silver (never l;houg]:lt of as a Parﬁcula.rly goo& La.rga.in
for porcelain) and furs (which lost their appea.l by the
first quarter of the nineteenth century). Eventxu].ly the
Enghsh traders discovered the substantial demand for
opium (Howard 1984:41). By the first quarter of the
nineteenth century the opium trade was fi:mly
established, with the British East India Company
pu.rc'.l::amng about tlnee-quarters of all Chinese exports.
Vessels purchased opium in India, sailing on to Canton,
where they would welg]n anchor just ouiside the port and
trade the opium to smugglers for silver. Only then
would the British SLj.PE sale into the harhor, claiming
tlley legiﬁ.mately scvugh’c to excl:an.ge silver for porcelain
(Schiffer et al. 1980:16). During this same period,
England imposed a 100% duty on imported porcelain in
order to protect their own fledgling porcelain industry.
Consequently, most of the Chinese Porcelains ]:egan
shipping directly to the United States, joining America’s
own Chinese fleet sailing from New York, Baltimore,
Salem, Philadﬂlp]:ia, Providence, and Boston. Just as
the British Bast India Company traded opium for
porce]am, 50 too did the Americans, althou.g]n typmal
cargoes also included tar, turpentine, rosin, VBID.IS}:I
tobacco, smruff, and furs (Floward 1984:41-46; Palmer
1976:25).

The bulk of the export wares for European
trade were the common blue and white porcelains,
pro&uoed Ly decora’:in.g the ]:isque pcrcelain with cobalt
prior to fmng While the Legin.m'ng date for this ware

can be quite early, what is seen at most American
arc];:laeological gites prolnably does not Pre&ate the
English re-opening of the China trade, about 17185.
Godden suggests that this style is relatively rare from
the 1740s ﬂlrough the 1770s, when overglazeci forms
were more popular. However, by the 1770s they begin
to dominate the couecﬁons, remaining papula.r to at
least 1795 {Godden 1979:148). Godden also observes
that while proclucﬁon continued well into the
nineteenth century, re]aﬁvely few blue and white dinner
services were sent to England after 1800, since British
potters had ]a.rgely capturec]. the market and were
beginning to do the same in the United States (Godden
1979:144). In the OM House collection there are 19
examples of this type, as well as an additional 21
specimens which Proba]:l}y repr&sen‘te& undecorated
portions of this same ware. A decoration added by the
Chinese, and very popular prior to about 1750, was 2 ~
thin brown band or line edge at the rim. This can be
seen on bowls, cups, and plates (Godden 1979:138) and
is present on one additional Old House specimen.

About 1720 an opaque rose-colored enamel
was introduced into the pallet of overglaze colors. As
time passed, the enamel became more stable, the wares
better ﬁ.terl, and this new style allowed meticulous
treatment of &:’ca.ll, delicate s]:;acling of tones, and a wide
range of color combinations, On plata the decoration
typically appeazed only on the inside. Bird and flower
suj:jects, along with figural themes are most common,
often surrounded with a diaper pattern (Medley
19:26:24:2, 263). But 'I:]:us pi.n.lz, a.uowing tones from
the palesi blush of pi.nlz to cleep ru}:»y red was only one
aspect of this the famr’ffe rose wares. Added to it, and
some claim to be even more important, was a lead-
atsenic, opague white pigment. Using this base, the
artist could add other pigments and achieve a wide color
palate. By 1730 the famiﬂe rose s'l:yle became the
dominant decorative motif in ovarglaze enameled wares
(Valenstein 1989:247). At Old House the famifle rose

wares account for 16 specimens.

There are also three specimens in the
collection which exhibit the overglazed hand rainting on
blue and white porcelain. Collectors (and some
archaeologists) have long called this style "Canton,”
appatently because much {though not all) of the ware
had overg[aze decoration added at the port city of
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Canton (Nogl Hume 1978:262). It seems equally
Iilaze}y, }Jowwer, that much of this decoration was done
at the point of imitial manu£aci‘ure, Pro}.;a.‘bly
Iingc!ezhen.

English porcelain (typically known ameong
collectors as "soft paste” porcelain} was first made about
1745 at Edward Heylin's gJassworks at Bow, Middlesex.
Beginning about 1749 the addition of bone ash
proclncecl a wlaiter, more saﬁs&ac&ory paste. It wasn't,
however, until the late 17505 or early 1760s that the
Engltsh potters were able to make a white porcela.m that
could resist heat changes and allowed their Pxocluction
for tea and colfee. Nevertheless, the Engliah porcela.ins
remained very expensive compa.recl to Chinese wares
and wasn't until the nineteenth century that European
wares really became a commercially viable procluct, as

oppose& to an item of extnwrdmmy luxury (Mecﬂey
1976:261).

Present in the Old House collection are a few
examples of English porcelain: one undecorated, three
with a gilt band, one hand painted cverg].aze, one blue
hand painted with a hand painted overglaze, and seven
blue hand painte&- ’

White salt glazed stoneware accounts for only
14 fragments in the Old House collection. These wares
were more durable than the earlier style delft, which
they replaw&, and the rlsve].opment of block molds
allowed the creation of such intricate relief patterns as
"dot, diaper and basket" and "harley.” While Nogl Hume
explains that the evolution of this ware included two
earlier versions, Old House has thas far revealed only
the more lxg}ﬂ:ly glazetl wares typical of the mid-century.
These white stonewares were developed in order to
pro&uce wares thinner than the delft which m.igl:’c
compete with the Chinese porcelains. Although the
Engl:sh potters were successful in accomplisl':ing this
goal, they were never very successful in their efforts to
embellish the pottery with polyc]a.rome chinoiserie. As a
result, the public grew tired of the ware's stark whiteness
{(Nogl Hume 1970:408). While the scratch blue motif
{four specimens of which are found in the Old House
collection) helped soften the ware, it required skilled
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labor which was always in ghort supply.z

Archa.eologists typicaﬂy comment that delft
lead to white salt—glaze:l stoneware, which in turn lead
to creamware. In part this is correct, althoug}: as Nogl
Hume (1970) reveals, the evolution is far from simple.
And while we often note that creamware was developed
in the 1750s by Josiak Weclgewooc{, it seems likely that
it was well on its way at least a decade earlier (Nozl
Hume 1970:409). In fact, it appears that this earliest
creamware had the same body composition as white salt-
gla.zed stoneware, but was fired at a lower ternperature
and coated with the lead glaze that became ye]lowis}:l
when fired. )

Nevertheless, this cream colored earthenware
was considered a revolution in ceramic production. It
provided. a fine g]ﬂze& ware at a relatively inexpensive
cost, anc].cameinsetswithawideva:iﬂ‘cy&veasel-fonns
and sl:ylee, It was a&optecl ]Jy most of the famous
Englmll potiers of the periocL Nosl Hume comments
t]:at; -

it is safe to assume that whereas
creamware straddled the perio& of the
American Revolution, plain white
salt-glaze ceased to bs i.rnporte& when
'I:l'Lg war fsegan, and pearlwa:e started
to arrive soon after it ended (Nozl

Hume 1970:411).

Consequenﬂy, crearnware is typica]ly given a date range
of about 1762 through 1820 (South 1977).

) While oreamware ])egan, primarily, as plain
cream-colored plates, often with a feathsredgecl, roynl,
or head-and-reel patterns, other decorative sty[es did
occur. Walton (1976:73) lists four: colored glazes,
enamel painting, transfer printing, and alip decoration.

2 Soratch blue is white salt glazecl stoneware which
was incised and flled with cobalt prior to Eﬂng, resulﬁ.ng in
a white body with thin blue lines. Those found at Old House
are typical of early (L.e., prior to ca. 1760} examples where the
lines ornament cups, saucers, and bowls. Later the style
axpamlecl onto chamber pots and mugs, in 2 effort By the
Eng]mh potters to take the market held by German wtilitarian

wWares.
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Figure 11. Creamware from Olcl House. A, colander or strainer; B, handle from tureen; C, plate fragment with plain rim; D, p]ate jEragmerlt with
{eathereclge rim molcling; E, bowl rim; F, fim of pitcher.
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Often the pottery would be produced at one location

and then sbjppecl elsewhere for its final decoration or
embellishment. Of these only two examp[es are found in

the Old House collection. One is a piece of annular

creamware and the other is a blue l—mnd—paintecl
example. The annularware is found as hollow ware
formes — ty-piceﬂy mugs and bowls. The multi-colored
strips were paiﬁtecl by relatively unskilled artisans who
needed only to apply their brush to the pottery surface
and spin the item on a table. The lmncl-paintecl wares,
while stenciled in charcoal on the biscuit, requirecl more
skill. The designs were most {-requently si_rnple Chinese
house patterns borrowed from porcelains (Nosl Hume
10692:129).

While comprising a small percent of the
ceramics present, there are a few other eighteenth
century wares, inclucling black baselt, Notting]:mm
stoneware, Westerwald, and clouded wazes. .Althoug]n
on_ly one specimen of black basalt was found in the
Cl:arla-;ton Museum's Old House co]lecﬁon, this ware
is indicative of very expensive teaware and was usually in
the form of a teapot. Even when similar unglazea red
teaware lost 'Fa-ﬂl'liol'l, the black basalts remained in
vogue, at least partia.”y accor&ing to No&l Hume
(196Ga:122}) because tl-ley were used in mourning.
Daniel Heywa.rcl's second wife, Jane Elizabeth, died in
1772 — about the time when this pottery was
increasingly used as part of the mournind custom.

The clouded wares, represented }Jy two
specimens, consist of a creamware }Jocly with a c[ip gla.ze
in the colors of purple, blue, brown, yenow, green, and
gray. They began to be seen in teawares about 1750
(Nozl Hume 1969a:123), although they were produced
from ahout 1740 to 1760.

The peatlwares, often considered the
intermediate step between creamwares and whitewares,
rnight also be called a whitened creamware, whose glaze
contained a small quantity of coba.lt, creating the
slightly bluish cast or tint which Nogl Hume
(1969b:390) notes “characterized much of the China
Trade porcelaiu of the periocl." [t originator, ]osia]:t
Weclgwoocl observed that he characterized it as "cfmnge
rather then an improvament” intended to help meet the
pul:'lic's increasing boredom with creamware (a_(uote& in

Noél Hume 1969b:390).

-k

The Old House collection included 287
specimens of this pottery, typically dated between about
1780 and 1830 or 1840 (South 1977). The most
common ate the unc'lecorate& pea.rlwaree , which like the
creamwares m.igllt include plates, cups, bowls, chamber
pots, and other forms. There were, however, other
forms: blue hand paintecl, blue transfer pri.ntec{, eclgecl,
and annular,

While tl:lere were some blue decorations on the
earlier creamwares, 'tl'ley were uncommon. As Nogl
Hume observed:

{or the earthenware pottery who was
striving to complete with porcelain,
blue on yeﬂow [the base color of
creamware] fell far short of the goal,
while the man who made creamware

for creamware's sake had on]y to turn
to the wares of Thomas Whieldon
and Josish Wedgwood to see that
other colors looked better on it (Noie'l
Hume 10694:392).

Blue on the new pea.r[ware, however, had a completely
different look, far more closely approaching the idealized
Chinese wares. At first blue was the on[y color used.
The hand pa.intecl motifs were ty'picaﬂy limited to a
pseuc[o-CI'linese c[esigu consisting of house, a fence,
and a tree or two. Sometimes some'mountains would be

aclclecl, Or gome aclcli’cional arboreal features, but the
motifs were limited.

Far more common, at least initially, were the
pearlware pla’cee decorated with blue {or sometimes
green) around theix shell edges. Appearing about 1779
or 1780, these edged wares had an extraordinarily long
life, lasting a half-decade. Initially these plates were
favored I)y the wealt]ny and i:hey were carefuﬂy clecotatecl,
with the brush strokes being carried toward the center of
the ple’ce, sothat a truly "£ea.t1'1&ry" effect was achieved.
T]JIOllgll time the platea fell from drace 2and the careful
application of the paint was modified to a mere strip
around the eclge.

Although transfer printing began with
creamware {or PEI]JE‘LPE! even eatlie;), it was far more

commaoil o0 tllﬁ new pearlwares. A copper p].ate wasg
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Table 4.
Vessel Forms Recovered at Old House
Ware and clecoration Cup Bowl Saucer Plate Ch Pt Pi’coller St T Pestle Tureen Tota.l
Daniel Heyward (ca. 1743 - 1777)
White SGEW 1 6 )
Ch Pore, undec. 1 1
Ch Pore, blue lnp 3 4 1 8
Ch Pore, HPOG & 5
Ch Pore, hp/HPOG 1 1
Eng Pore, undec 1 1
Eng Pore, gilt i 1
Eng Pore, blue hp 1 1
Subtotal 5 10 1 8 - - - 1 - 25
William Heyward (ca. 1777 - 1786}
Creamware, undec. 2 5 2 3 12
Ctearnwa.re, ec[ged. 1 1
Creamware, annular 1 1
Subtotal 2 6 - 3 - 3 - - - 14
William Heywar&, Jr. {ca. 1805 - 1845)
Pearlware, undec. 1 1 1 3
Pearlware, blue hp 20 1 30
Pearlware, blue tp 1 3 e
Pearlware, cable 1 1
Whi_teware, undec. 2 3 9 1 15
Wl-niteware, blue tp 1 3 4,
Subtotal 33 8 - 13 2 . - - 1 57
Total 40 24 1 24 2 3 N 1 1 96
5G5W = salt-glazecl stoneware, Ch Porc = Chinese porcelai_u, Lp = hand painte&, HPOGQG = hand pa.in’cecl over
glazed, Eng Porc = English porcelain, tp = transfer printed, Ch. Pt. = chamber pot, St. Jr. = storage jar
* the only storage jar is coarse red earthenwars, which cannot be placecl within an ownerslu'p periocL Consequently
it is not included in the totals.

engravecl with the soreen, ‘mlzen:l, and then a paper was
appliecl to the copper plate to picl! up the ink. This
paper was, in turm, app[.ied to the ])iSque to transfer the
ink to the pearlware. In well executed exarnples the fine
dots of the copper plate engraving can still he plaiuly
Been. A&ErWEI(].B the plate was gla.zed, and fired. The
Prc-cluction of transfer Printe& wares took considerable
skill anc]., as a result, the transfer printe& clesigfns were

among the most expensive of the pearlwares (Mi]ler

1980, 1991).

Pearlware gra&uaﬂy evolved into whiteware

between about 1820 and 1830. The paste continues to
become harder, alt}nough it is again the glaze which is
most distinct. The blue tint of pearlwa.re is lost and
whitewares have a clear glaze, often deeper than
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Figure 12. Pearlware from Cld House. A, blue transfer printecl pig handle from tureen; B-C, blue transfer prini’ec} bowl forms; D-F, shell eclgec] plate

rims; G, annular ware with cable clecoration; H, annular ware.
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pea.rlware. Cu.riously, however, Weclgwoocl's facl:ory was
still malaing pearlware in 1865, at whick time
Llewellynn Jewitt remarked that it was “not ‘a pearl of
great price,’ but one for orJ.inary use and of moderate
cost” (quotecl in No&l Hume 1969]3"396) Nevartheless,
by about 1830 pearlware had become almost entirely
replacecl ]:1y whiteware in America and it was Ilkely ]:Jeing
acq'uirecl by William Heywarcl, Jr., just as the p-earlware
had lilze].y been Purchasec]. lay his {ather, William
Heyward, before him.

The whitewares account for only 125
specimens, most of those I:being undecaratecl. The next
most common whiteware was blue transfer printecl —
still indicative of considerable wealth. The xelatively low
status annular whitewares account for only 7% of the
collection.

Rougjaly coeval with the whitewares are the
ye]lowwares, which Tangs in date from about 1830 to
1880. This ware is made from a buff dlay covered with
a yellowis]:l transparent glaze. With few exceptions this
pottery was utifitarian in form and included milk pans,
pie plates, and bowls (Foshee 1984). The 20 examples
from Old House are li}zely specimens which made their
way from the kitchen to the table.

Table 4 itemizes the vessel forms of the pottery
identified at Old House by ware and decoration. It is
also generaﬂy divided l:iy probal‘.\le owner at the time the

wares were acquire&.

Although Daniel Heyward's assemblage is
dominated by a hollowware (cups and bowls): flatware
(plates and saucers) ratio of nearly 2:1, this is perhaps
cleceiving since the bulk of his cups and bowls were very
expensive Chinese and Englis]n porcelains used in the
tea cexemony. While not included, in this list would be
the Eragments of such items as the black basalt and
No‘tt‘ingl-nam stonewares, ]Jla-ely also used in the tea
cerernony. In fact, Daniel Heywar&'s collection
evidences no utilitarian bowls, suggesting that he was
setting his table with fairly expensive wares. The
collection also includes a porcelain mortar, sugdesting
that Daniel may have Prepared his own medicines or
conducted similar activities.

William Heywarcl’s ceramics arte ]jlzeiy 1o less

fa.nc'y. Even thoug[l we gee 110 porcelain, the quantity of
undecorated creamware suggests that he acquirecl new
wares upon tal?ing over the plantati.on. The
hollowware:flatware ratio is still about 2:1, suggesting
that the tea ceremony continued to be an important
social observation at Old House.

By the time of William Heyward, Jr. the
hollowware-flatware ratio had risen to 2.5:71, yet we.are
still not preparec]. to suggest that this is an indication of
either poverty or a change in dietary habits. When the
decoration of the hollowwares ia examinecl, we see that
the majority, 34 of the 46 vessels or nearly three-
quarters, are either hand paintecl or transfer printed.
Both were {airly expensive and relatively }ngln status
motifs. The collection contains only one cable decorated
vessel, genera.uy consiclerecl a lower status motif.

At least at this level, therefore, we see no clear
indication of increasing or decteasing wealth at Old
House. It appears that each successive generation used
ceramics that were, at that parﬁcular time, generaﬂy
considered to be ]:ugh status wares.

There is over twice as much glassware in the
Old House collection as ceramics. The 3302 specimens
include a range of colors and forms, although 1960
specimens (nearly 60%) are “black™ glass, which is
actua]ly dark green in transmitted ligl'ﬂ:. These represent
"wine" hottles cornmonly used in Europe and North
America. Olive Jones (1986) has conducted extensive
research on this bottle style, c!iscovering that the
cylindrical "wine" hottle represents four distinct styles —
two for wine and two for beer — linked to their size and
intended contents. These four srtyles, however, were not
just used for wines and beers. Other proclucfs, such as
cider, distilled liquors, vinegar, and mineral waters
might also have been sold in these botile s‘cyles. In
addition, they would have been used by private
individuals as containers for decanting, storing, and
serving beverages either ljought in barrels or made at
home.

Of the a.sseml)lage at Old House on[y one
ﬁagmentary example i8 clear}y of the g[o]:nula.r-]:ocly style
often called an “onion-bhottle.” These are ty'pical of the
first half of the eighteenth century (No&l Hume
1969a:62). Also common during the first half of the
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Figuare 13. Ceramics and container g]ass from Old House. A-B, examples of marker's marks on whiteware plates; C, undecorated whiteware; D, blue
transfer printed whiteware plate; E, aqua panel bottle fragment; F-G, examples of “wine” bottle necks; H, container neck in hrown glass.
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eighteenth century are bottles blown into a square-sided
mold with nearly flat bases. These are 'frequently called
“Dutch gin bottles,” although they are not exclusively
Dutch in origin nor were ’chey limited to the transport
of gin. On[y one examp[e of this square bodied bottle
Las been found at Old House. The rarity of these ea.rly
styles at Old House may suggest that either bottles were
care{:uﬂy retainec}. and, when brolzen, were clispomacl of
elsewhere, or it may be an indication that Daniel
Heyward rately used aleohol. Rega.r&[ess, the bulk of the
collection exhibits basal diameters hetween about 77
and 109 mm. Two size classes, according to Qlive Jones
(1986), m.igl'tt have been in use c].uring Daniel's tenure
and include what are called undersized beer and wine
Ety]e bottles. The former date from 1750 i’l’lrough
1810, while the latter date from 1760 through 1800.
Regart:uess, most common are bottles r]ahng from 1790
through 1850 — the tenure not of Daniel Heyward,
but of his son and granclaon.

One of the specimens missing from the
collection was a “hlack” g{a.ss bottle base reportecl to
contain lead shot. Shot was {requently wsed to “scour”
clean bottles before they were reused and it appears that
least occasionaﬂy the bottles were refilled with some of
the lead shot still inside. The acid wine of course would
dissolve the ahot, a::l.c].mg dramatic gquantities of lead to
the wine — and to the tissues of those who drank the
wine. By the nineteenth century this was clearly
recognizecl:

Lead shot is commonly Employecl for
cleaning them [bottles to be re-used);
but it is desirable that great care
should be employe{l that none are left
in the ]:Joﬂ:les, as sometimes happens;
one or two grains of shot not
unErequently remain in the bottle
jammeci in the angle, and if these
should be dissolved ]D)f the acid of the
wine they will communicate to it a
poisonous r.p.lalif:y (quotecl in Jones
1986:21-22).

Jones also comments that it isn't uncommen to find
bottles from arc!naeological contexts with shot lodgec].
between the 1’]0(1)( and the k.ick—up {Jones 1986:22).

The next most common color of glass at Old
House was clear or “colorless.” The pro&ucﬁon of
colorless g[ass was a goal among manufacturess, but it
requirecl a sand with little iron and a flux free of
impurities. As a result, it tended to be expensive. The
quantity of clear glass at Old House seems to latgely be
from the nineteenth century and lilzely relates to the
very late occupations at the settlement. At least some of
these &agmen’cs are of pane[ bottles, which lilzely
contained medicines.

The quantity of ligl—d: yeﬂow and liglﬂ: green
bottle glass at Old House represents the results of sand
with  iron impurities. Items include  several

unidentifiable containers, perlnaps representing medicine
vials.

Not sutprisingly, neat];y a fifth of the collection
represents melted glass —_ virtuaﬂy all of which were
recovered from the ash zone and represent items in and
around the house at the time it bumed. Alt}lough many
(per}laps even most) of these may represent window
glass, all of the items included in the kitchen group were
so distorted and/or liquicli{:iecl that it was irnpossi]::le to
determine their onginal function.?

The Old House collection also contained 10
tableware items, inc}ucling six tumbler fragments, two
golalet feet, and two ljowl‘fragments. The tumblers
include both p]ain and fluted varieties. The plain
tumblers were common cluring the eighteenlzh and
nineteenth centuries, a[though they were not necessarily
"cheap," since glass was often sold }Jy the Weight and
tumblers, especiauy the leaded glass common at Old
House, tended to be very heavy (McNally 1082:63).
Perhaps more curious is the preclominance of tumblers
over stemmed ware, again suggesting that Daniel
Hey‘ward may have not favored wine as much as his
descendants.

Tl’le l}owl fragments, of a lalue color, seem to
represent what rn_ight be called a jL:inger ljowl, wine glass

a retrospect, the absence of burned earthenwares
suggests that the bulk of this glass does, in fact, represent
melted window glass. Nevertheless, we have left these
unidentifiable specimens in the kitchen group.
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Figure 14. Qther Kitchen Group Artifacts from Old House. A, fragrnent of blue glass bewl: B, po.rcelain mortar for grincling medicines and herbs; C,
cut glass tumbler; D-E, Colono ware pottery made by African slaves and possibly brought to Old House from Chareston.
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cooler, or wine glass rinser — all common forms at
Eigllteenl‘}'l and carly nineteenth century high stalus
sites.

Pl\%lps Warcen notes that these vessels are
L}wugl-ll to have been used [or:

{1), rinsing the mouth after eating;
(2), rinsing the [ingers after eating;
(3), cooling wine gla.sses in chilled
water at the table; {49, rinsing wine
glasses at the table. It has been called
a l:inger basin, a water glass and a

wine coaler.

[t is entirely possible that
the bowl in question served all the
purposes mentioned, with the period
ol one use overlapping the perio-c[ ot
another. Also, one stratum of saciety
might have aclopler.] a seconclary uge
carlier than another, or the changes
may have heen acloptecl in one locale
sooner than in another (Warren

1970:137).

He goes on Lo cite several perioc[ accounts of
using these bowls, l:y'pica[ly in the mid- to late-
) eighleenth century. While he dismisses the possible use
for cooling, claiming that use would imply the
impro]:al)le dearth of glasses, this ignores the cost of ice
and the Southern climate. [t may be that cl‘li“ing
glasses was more economical of scarce resources than
cl'liuing bottles.  Further, Jones and  Sullivan
(1985:132) observe that eighteenth century paintings
of clining frequently show stemware upenclecl in similar
bowls. Roberts (1976:65 [1827]) suggests that the use
of “cooler or finger glasses” was reserved for the most

formal of diner parties.

The three kitchenware items all repregent
[ragmenls of iron keltles. Ajthough these are far more
at home in the kitchen, ll:ley were occasiona“y Brought
oul into yarcl areas where they were used for cleaning
clol:l-les, preparing soap, and cloing a number of tasks.
Some of the smaller kettles might also have been
]Jmugl'lt from the litchen to the house and lzepl. warm
there {or serving.

The final item found in the kilchen group is
the Colono ware pottery. The 29 specimens account [or
less than 1% of the kitchen group, a typreally low
proportion for many Beaufort area p]antations. The
Colono ware potlery was made L)y either Alrican
American slaves or Native Americans and tends to'be
found in assemblages from the eighleenth cenlury, [t's
lilcely that By the death of Daniel Heywarcl telatively
lif:lle, if any, Colono ware was [:reing used at Olcl House.
The wares present may even have heen l)rougl'lt with
Daniel clur'mg his move from Charleston, where Colono

wares are {ar Imore cominon.

The bulk of Colono ware was in hollow ware
Eorms, typica.”y l)owls, a[t]'lougl'l the specimens {rom Ol
House are too small to allow any detailed analysis.
Nevertheless, no clearly European forms were identilied.
The Architectural Assemblape at Old House

A total of 2890 architectural rermains
(excluding brick and slate, bul including marble

fragments) was recovered from Old House, representing
aboul 36% of the total arlifact assemblage.

The smgle 1arge5l calegory is that of nails, with
the 2278 specimens accounting for nearly 79% of the
collection. Of these 600, over a quarter, can be
discounted since tl-ley could not e cither measured or
identified as Lo type. Two hundred Eorly lwo nails
(representing just 14.6% of the identifiable nails) were
hand wrought, meaning thcy were indiviclua”y forgccl IJy
l:)laclzsmiths, either in America or Englancl.‘l The
wrougl-lt nail shank can be distinguished from machine
cut nails (introduced about 1780) by their taper on all
four sicles, instead of only two (see Howard 1980:54;
Nelson 1968). These nails, while largely :eplacec[ by
machine cut nails at the ])egirming of the nineteenth
cenlury, continued in specialized use far Ionger. Two
head styles are present in the collection. Rose heads
have a distinctive head created l)y four stuikes of a
hammer, giving it the form of a four-leal clover. Cail

* Lounshury (1994:239) notes that while nails were
certainly manufaclured locally in the South, "1 sizable
propotlion of the nails used in buildings through ihe late 18th
century were imported from England "
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Figure 15. Architectural artifacts from Old House. A, mortise lock hox; B, cut nails with wrought heads; C, wrought
nails; D, fragment of a white “marble” paver; E, interior of plaster fragment, showing lath impressions; F, cross
section of Lwo coat plaster; G, plasier [ragment with {inished er_}ge.
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Lounshury (1994:412) notes that this style was most
commonly used in rough framing and attacl;\ing exterior
cladding, primacily since it was impossible to “hide” the
head. Moreover, the broad head had greater ]aol&ing
powET needed in these app]ications. The other style
present at Old House is a clasp head (sometimes called
a "T-head". This sl:y'le was P:r:oduce& like the rose head,
but was struck two additional times on either side of the
head, to form the characteristio T-shape. These nails
were usually used in trim work where the Lolzling power
of ﬂlela.rger head was not needed ap&the head would
distract from the appearance (Lounsbury 1994:412)..

Two hundred seventy nine examples of brads
were also recovered. These are t].'lin, flattish nails with a
projecting Iip rather than a defined head. Tom Wells
explains that the head is sheared with the shaft and the
item takes on a “7" shape (Wells1998:96). Lounsbury
(1994:45) notes that they were manufactured in 2
variety of sizes and were used for a number of different
purposes, “eapecially for finish work such as ﬂooxing,
wainscotting, and trim.” The lack of a head allowed the
nail to be driven below the surface and the hole filled
with putty to hide the location. Brads were used
t]nroug]:crut the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries,
although all of the ones identified at Old House post-
date 1810 (Nelson 1968:6). This is the largest
assem}ala.ge of this style which we have encountered at
any low couniry pla.n’ca.ﬁon.

Finally, the Charleston Museum collection
also yielded 1142 cut nails, representing over two-thirds
of the identifiable nails. These were producecl l)y a
machine that cut each shaft from a sheet of irom,
tapering the nail along its lengtl-l on only two, instead of
all four, sides. Although this machinerywas invented in
the 17803, nails produced by machine were slow to
reach the SO‘II&I, not l?recomm.g wiclely available until the
first quarter of the nineteenth oantury. Louna]aury
{(1994:107) suggests that the most widely available
variety from the 1790s through the early 18205 weze
those whose heads were still hand forged (that is, a

- machine cut nail with a hand forged head). After about
1815 machines capable of both cutting and heading the
nails were introduced and hand forge& heads gracluaﬂy
declined in s:gmﬁcance Of the machine cut collection,
only & quarter have forged hea&s, suggesting their use
Jun'ng this earlier perioc]. The remaining tluee—qua.r’cers

of the cut nails exhibit cut heads, suggestive of a post-
1820 date.

Because different size mails served different
self-limited functions, it is pogaiﬂe to wse the relative
frequenciee of nail sizes® to indicate buﬂ&ing
construction details. Table 5 lists nails by both penny
weight sizes and the Standard Average European (SAE)

size, as well as the function of various nail sizes.

The table reveals that w-rought nails are
exceedingly rare. Machine cut nails with wrought heads
are more cominon, while the cut nails with cut heads
are still more common. The brads occur in about the
same number as the cut nails with wrcug]:xt heads.
Taken toget]ner this assern]:lage is sugdestive of
considerable rewor}aing. Wruught nails may be
uncommon because the original Daniel Heyward house
was not only sirnple, 1aclzulg extensive de’ca.i]ing, but also
because much of it was constructed using craft
techniques that focused on the use of treenails or peg
construction. Lounf-}:ury observes that the practice
continued at least as late as the 1770s in some areas; it
doesn't seem unlikely that a ca. 1740 house on the
frontier would have exhibited few nails. What is more
curious is that it is larger of the wrought nails, which
geem to be un]ﬂzely candidates for tiim work, that have
T-heads.

Nevertheless, I)y the turn of the century there
appear to be a number of nails Leing used — either as

repairs or as part of the house’s expansion. Not

. 9111‘_9115. mF,‘ }}'; la.rge Il.ailsr CLmerisﬁc Of large ﬁammg' '

remain scarce, [t seems likely that while craft traditions
were &ymg out in many areas, large Erﬂ:mng timbers
continued to be pegged, minimizing the need for large
nails. Framing nails, however, were present and were

proba]:’ly used in Lglnt applications, such as the framiug

% Nails were not only scld ]:y s}:.ape, but also by size,
the lengths being designsted by d (pence). This nomenclature
Aevelopeil from the medieval English practice of descnl:mg
the size according to the price per thousand (Lounsbury
1094:239). Nelson {1968:2) pmvid& the same
interpretation, although the price was per hundred. Common
gizes include 2d - 6«1, 8&, 10&, 12&, 20:]., 30&, and 40d. It
was not, however, until the late nineteenth century that penny
weights were standardized.
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of winc}.ows and &oors, as well as

The next most common Axrchitecture Group
artifact is that of fat glass (s.u of which appears to
represent window glass), accounting for 17.5% of the
group (n=506). Until the modem period window glass
was either crown or cy']in&er, with erown glass
dominating the eighteenth and early nineteenth century |
market. Regardl&ss, itis us'ual}y difficnlt 4o dla‘hngmsh
the two unless certain, usually la.rge, parts of the g].asa
are present (Jones and Sullivan 1985:171). At Ol
House all of the fragments are small, suggesting
considerable &agmentation of the panes prier to their
&isposal. All of the glass, however, had a greemsl:x tint,
common to eigl:teent]:l century specimens (N o8l Hume
1978:233).

The collection includes six door lock parts.

These include three Jock ]:ox&c, one lzey]mle su::rouncl,
one door latch plate or keep, and one item no longer
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tting up individual walls. Takle 5.
SeEHng up indiv ° Nails Recovered from Old House
Far more common were v " Machine C
Vrought _ Machine Lut
nails sized for shea’c]ling and si&iug Penrsy Wt. SAE Rose T Hand Machine Flooring  Tetal
— clearly revea.]j.n.g that not on}y 2 r I - 1 - 5
was OM House of fame |3 ez ooz x =
. . 1% - - 34 78 4
construction, bt that it was clad in 51 1347 . . 2 31 14
weatherboard. Almost as common Small timber, shingles 8 - 59 207 46 320
were the smallest mails, typically | % 100 - 22.2 718 - 26.5
wsed to install plasl:er lath and Combined % 2.5 831 14.4
roofing. 6d o . 362 13
2 2w - 30 23
It might be curious to |8 |2 - 3 16 13
some that no roofing materials were ;Lmhmg and siding ) 2 7 4{;3 3 4'? 4632 1
encountered in the Charleston | o lined 8.3 107 '
Museumn excavations. The very few
small slate ﬁ’agments found in the f:d 23;: 3 2‘3 2‘; ?Z
collections are almost csr’cajnly 12d A 39 2 19
wrifing or counting slates, not slate Framing 3 . 59 46 185 203 .
roofing. Shelley Smith comments | % 100 - 562 438 - 242
* that “plan‘l:ation llouses, even the Combined % 1.0 35.8 63.1
gra.nclest of them, seem to have 164 3147 : 88 30 2
been roofed with wood shingles™ | 204 4 2 12 ) -
during the colonial period (Smith } 304 44 - . - -
1999:210). Apparently the use of | Besw braming 2 100 32 2 136
s . . % 100 75.8 24.2 - 112
wood sl:ung].mg continued well into . 1g
Combined % 910 1.5
the mid-nineteenth century at Old
House.

found in the collection listed only as a “door lock”
(possibly a fourth lock box).

Al three of the lock boxes extant in the
collection are examples of mortise locks, intended to set
into the wood door. This style grm:lually came to replace
the old style rim lock and was introduced in the second
helf of the eighteenth century (Lounsbury 1994:236).
These specimens, however, are manufactured from
rolled metal, rather than hammered iron, and this is
suggestive of a nineteenth century date. They were likely
used either as replacements at Old House or perhaps in
that section of the house which was added later. The
locks include a latch bolt and dead bolt. That rim locks
ware present is indicated ]Jy the existence of the one lock
lzeep, a.lt]aoug]:l even this example probal:ly dates from
the late eigll‘l:eentl'l century.

The construction hardware from Old House
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ineludes 34 items: two slide bolt plate fragments, four
strap lu'.nge ﬁagments, one pintle, six butt hjngem, one
shutter hinge, two shutter dogs, two UID hinge
Lagment, 12 delft ile ﬁagments, one UID hook, and
one UTD bracket. In addition, the eollection included
66 marble 'Eragments representing tile and other

decorative elements.

The slide bolts identified from the collection
were leely used to close shutters over windows.
Associated with this process were also two shutter clogs,
used to retain the shutters in an open position, as well
as one pro]aa_'ble shutter L.inge. The one drive pintle
present was also proba]aly used as a shutter ]:u'nge. The
strap hinges include at least one HL ]:m:.ge and these
specimens may represent some of the earliest hardware,
likely used on doors, present from Old House. These
would have been replacecl by the cast iron butt ]Jin.gea_.
although Lounsbury observes that they were not
common until the second quarter of the nineteenth
century. Consequently, they may have been additions }Jy
William Heyward, Jx.

The unidentifiable items aze all items which
have been removed from the collection. Unfortunately
we can only guess at their original dasign and function.

The excavations found a mmmber of delft tile
fxagman’r:s, althoug}x unforhma.tely most are no longer
present in the collections. The tile {xagments remaining
were all too small to prcnn'&e information on the scene
portrayed- They range in thickmess from just under Y-
inch to almost exactly 5/16-inch. Nosl Hume
(1978:285) potes that tiles of this thickness were
almost exclusively used for JJsirepleme and wall slti.rtings
{as opposecl to flooring tiles which were substantially
thicker). Lounsbury (1994:374) notes that "Dutch
tiles" were most commonly applied to the jambs of
f*ireplace openings, resulf:ing in them also being called
"chimney tiles." He places their peak in populasity
around mid-eighteenth century — suggesting that they
were almost certainly installed by Daniel Heyward as
part of the original house construction. Smith notes
that not only were such tiles advertised tegu.la.tly in the
South Carolina Gazette, but Dutch "c]aim.ney tiles”
grace& such well known plantaﬁon houses as Archdale
Hall, Drayton Hall, Yeamans Hall, and Crowfield
(Smith 1999:219-220).

The marble found in the excavations is badly
fragmented, but appears to include two types. One type
superficially appears to Purbeck "marble.” The stome,
once "black," has weathered, taking of a rough gray
appearance. Larson (1990:190) notes that Purheck
marble, as it weathers and loses its polish, can almost
appear to be hke conerete. Upon closer examination,
however, the stone lacks the characteristic small
fossilized gastropods which characterize the Purbeck
beds (sce Dirnes 1990:113-114 for & description of this
stone). [t is possible, however, that architects were not
as geologicaﬂy inclined and that Purbeck marble was
taken to he any marble-like stone in black or gray.
Lounabu:y, for example, notes only when Jiscussing
English marble that, "much of this material was the
dark gray Purbeck marbls quarﬁe& in the south of
Engla.nd" (Lonna}:mry 1994:224). The stones from
Old House are moderately polished (suggesting heavy
wear)ancl have a g:mylsh black color (Munseu Rock
Color Chart N2). Smith (1999:199) notes that
contrasting light and dark stone was frequently used to
pave the porticos of the low country’s colonial
pla.u'l’ation houses.

In addition, there are also white marbles.
These are examplw that are uaua.uy called Englisl-x
marlale, which is ach.muy a Iela’cively soft limestone
which can be easily polished. It was often used for
ﬂooring, tom]:stones, fonts, and c]:dmney pieces

(Lounsbury 1944:224).

“The examples from Old House include
fragments which are thick enough (1Y% to 134 inches) to
have served s ﬂooring. These include hoth llgh’c and
dark specimens, suggesting that they were laid in a
checkerhoard pattern. Several exhibit remnant ]:ec]dmg
mortar adhering on their unfinished surfaces. In
addition there are thinner fragments (34 inch), all white,
which were more leely used as fronts or inmxporate«l
into ﬁreplace surrounds. Fi.ua]ly, there are several

fragments which are far thicker, upwards of perhaps 2-
inches, which appear to have been steps.

) The range of stone material recovered from
Old House suggests that considerable expense was taken
to import the stone and incorporate it in the settlement.

Similar exampl&s have heen documented from the
eighteenth century Broom Hall mansion in Goose
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Creek (Trinkley et al. 1995) and from the late
eighteenth and early nineteenth century Shoolbred
mansion on Kiawah Island (Trinkley 1993h}. Although
Shoolbred's house is far later than either Broom Hall or
Old House, it was erected by a Englishman who appears
to have set out to create a country seat. What seems to
connect these sites is not necessarily the time periocl of
construction, but rather the wealth of the individuals
involved and their efforts to create very elaborate
architectural statements. |

While not included in the count, the collection
includes a small number of plaster samples. Several
reveal that a two coat system was used: a coarse
undercoat followed 11}' a fme finish cost congsisting
prhnaa:i}y of lime. One of these :Eragments suglgests that
the plaster terminated on some sort of molding, perlmps
a chair rail or wainscot. Several others exhibit remnant
paint which to&ay has taken on a &m:ltz, almost mw:]&y
blue color. All of them seem to suggest that the plaster
was a;_:p]iec’. to well formecl, saton lath. The presence of
saw marks has sometimes been taken as evidence
precluding eighteenth century construction, yet Smith
clearly noted that sawn lath was used as early as the frst
decade of the eighteenth century, while riven lath
continued to be used into the 1760s (Smith
1999:205).

Furmniture Group Artifacts

The Old House collection contained 56
{:ragments of 1a.mp gla.ss, one brass window shade
llauger, and two brass curtain rings. Both of the
curtain rings are missing, so we can say little about
them. Cloth was expensive go the mere presence of
curtains, however, is indicative of considerable wealth.
Roller blinds were introduced in the 1760, suggesting
that the Heywards sought to keep up with the newest
fashions.

The lamp cl:.imney g]ass is from a vertical wick
lamp, the eardiest of which was the Arga.nd la.mp
patented in 1784. This lamp was intended to bum
whale cil and was used J:ny only those in coastal
commumities where whale oil was :ea&ily available or ]3)’
the very affluent. It wasn't until the 1840s that famps
were readily available which used alternative fuels, such
as lard. Kerosene wasn't used until the 1850s {Moss
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1988; Woodhead et al. 1984:38). Tt is likely that the
remains found at Old House are from an Argand-
burner lamp, per}:laps c]atl.ng from the first gquarter of
the nineteenth century — Probal:ly about the time
William Heyward, Jr. was occupying the mansion.

Axrms Group Artifacts

In gpite of its early periocl of construction and
the frontier nature of the area at the time, only two
arms related artifacts were recovered from the main
house. Unforhmately, neither are still in the collection
and they were described only as a piece of lead shot and
a gun flint. The lead shot was described as “buckshot,”
suggesting that it was intended to take down large game.
The gun flint of coumse reminds us that the site

occupants were using muskets. They account for about
0.02% of the total assemblage from Old Houge.

Tobacco Rela.'l:e& Arl:i:[acts

The excavations at Old House produced 28
pipe stem ﬁagmen’cs, two pipe bowl {:mgmen’cs, and one
probable Colono pipe bowl. Accounting for only 0.39%
of the total a.ssem]alage thisis a very small collection and
it suggests that relatively little tobacco smoking was
ta.lzin.g P],ace around the main house.

One explanation for this may be that Heyward
chose 1o take snuff rather than smoke his tobacco. By
the efig]ateanth century “snmc.Eing" was a conspicucus
form of consutnption as filled with ritual as the ta]aing
of tea. While introduced Ly the French, it was q‘uicl?_ly
taken up l:-y the upper classes of Britain and the Ingll
society of the colonies quickly followed, “adopting this
ﬂam]:oyan’c excuse for graceful i rnovements,
ostentatious snuff-boxes, and the ﬂourishing of silken
handkerchiefs” (Heimann 1960:64). Since snuff was
perfumecl. its use had several a&vantagas; not on]y was
it a way of inﬁoducing sootl'n.ing scents into the nose,
but it also helpeci re&uee 'l:]ne strengt]-l of cther, Yeas
agreeable, strong odors.

The few tobacco pipe stems present are all

. manufactured of white c].ay and represent seclions of the

brittle stem acciclenta.uy broken Jm'ing use or storage.
The small size of the bowls and the leng’clx of the stems
were both a function of the tobacco Leing used. The
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dark air cured tobacco of the seventeenth
and cighteenth centuries “was a powerful
s]na.g, best smoked in small doses”
{(Heimann 1960:63). The lor;g stem also

allowed the smoke to cool somewhat before
reaching the mouth.’

Perhaps the most unusual item in
the collection is what may be a Colono ware
pipe bowl. Perhaps this item was used by
one of Heywa:c].'s house servants, since it is
unlilzely that a P]anter would have used
such a bowl, especially when more
commonly accepted white clay bowls were
reac]i]y availahle. Altemaﬁvely, this may
represent a {'ragment of a Native American
pipel:owl, altlwugh no other Indian remains

were encountered in the collection.

Clot]:ti_nd G:r:oup Axtifacts

Figure 16. Colono or Native American pipe bowl and iron belt or tacls
buckle.

QOnly five items of clothing were recovered
cluring the Charleston Museum excavations. Two of the
iterns were buttons {one bone and one I)ra.ss) ; no longer
found in the collection. Also missing is a brass pin. The
brags button mig]:lt have been used on a coat, wlrn'le the
bone buttons were more often used on shirts or
uJ;clergarments. Both are typical of the eigl'l’feenth
century. The remaining two items include an iron
buckle, measuring about 1 by 1% inches, too small to
be a shoe buckle, al‘l'llough it rn.igh’c have been from a
belt or might even have been tack hardware.

Also present is a sad iron — a Bma.u, solid iron
uged for pressing cloths. Tt would have been heated on
coals, used a few minutes and replaced to again warm,
This dives us a view of the household drudgery necessary

to allow individuals such as the Heywards to appear
{ashionable.

Personal Group Artifacts

The si_ngle itern from this category is no longer

® Bome suggest that it was the hamhness of
commonly available tobaceo which oncouragecl the use of

snuff among the upper classes.

in the Couecﬁon, but it was appar&ntly a bone
toothbrush. Barbara Mattick has produce& one of the
few archaeological studies of toothbrushes common.]y
available. She notes that while toothbrushes were .
introclucecl into Europe in the m.icl-fi&eenth century,
the bone handled brush was not invented until 1780
(Mattick 1993:162). Consequently, this item was likely
used Ly one of Daniel's c]Eﬂcenclants, very hlze[y William
Heywarc.[, Te. .

Activities Group Artifacts

This final artifact group includes a total of 54
specimens (or 0.67%of the site's total assemlnla.ge). The
category is broken down into a variety of classes —
construction tools, farm tools, toys, fishing gear, storage
itemns, stable and barn items, miscellanecus hardware,

and a rather general class called simply, "other” (South
1977:96).

At Old House we have identified three iters
classiﬁecl as ’coo]s, inclucling one 1'10(—:, one axe, and one
chisel, All are toclay miesing from the Old House

couecﬁon.

There are 19 items classified as “storage
items,” including 18 fragments of iron strap ranging
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from 1 to 3 inches in width. These Table 6
would have been found as strapping Mean C D : { QldH
on barrels, which would lj]aely have ean \-eramic Liate for ouse
been comrmon at Old House. The Mean Date  #
final item is a lead strap about 1 Ccrimic o - Date Range fxi) i fixx
inch wide which have b Overglaze enameled porcelain  1660-1800 1730 19 32,870
et wide TAIeh may Rave BCEN | Underglazed blue porcelain 16601800 1730 80 138,400
part of a sea[.
Nottingham stoneware 1700-1810 1755 Z 3,510
T]:le two Stﬂ.’)l& &Dd ]:arn Westerwald 1700-1775 1738 4 6.952
it . 11 . White SGSW 1740-1775 1758 14 24,612
! E“’Eh‘:jl“fle * Teﬁ;’ uckle with White SGSW, scratch e 1744-1775 1760 4 7,040
iﬁa" N ring and a iragmentary | g,k Baal 1750.1820 1785 1 1,785
orseshoe.
Miscellaneous hardware Lead giazed slipware 1670-1795 1733 245 431,517
inclucles one WaS]:’lEI, one nut, ancl Clouvded wares 17406-1770 1755 2 3,510
14 screw fragments. The washer | Luster wares 1790-1840 1815 8 14,520
and nut are per}:laps modern, while
kL &a : likel Decorated delft 1600-1802 1750 47 82,250
the screw gments were ely Plam delft 16401-1800 1720 20 34,400
associated with the butt }.ungee or
other architectural iterns found on Buckley ware 1720-1775 1748 1 1,748
the site. Creamware, anmlar 1780-1815 1798 1 1,798
hand painted 1790-1820 1805 1 1,805
The final category of undecorated 1762-1820 1791 347 621,477
other” includes eight clay | oo b hand puimed 17801820 1800 37 66,600
flowerpot fragmenis, one fragment blue transfor printed  1795-1840 1818 28 50.904
of brass pipe, one brass cap with edged 1780-1830 1805 10 18,050
. . anmlar/cable 1790-1820 1805 13 23,465
lip, one fragmentary iron bandle, undecorated 1780-1830 1805 199 359,195
and one Etagmenl: o{ lea.J. scrap.
Whiteware, blue trans print 1831-1865 1843 3z . 59,136
Dating the Site sunular 1831-1800 1866 9 16,794
undecorated 1820~ 1860 84 156,240
Throughout these | vepowware 1826-1880 1853 20 37,060
discussions we have remarlzel:l {hai 1232 2,195,638
certain artifacts migl‘nt have been
2,195,638 + 1232 = 1782.2
used ]:Jy one or another Heywarcl.

PEIl‘lEI.PS the best, overall, means of
da‘ti.ng the site is to examine the
ceramics. Ta.lole 6 provicles a mean ceramic date for the

than historic dates. The reversal of this trend at Old

collection, revea.]jng a date of 1782.2.7 This is just over
a decade earlier than the Projecterl mean historic date.
Typicall'y arc]iaeo]ogists note that because ceramics are
durable ol)iefts, often used for a number of years before
Leing discarded or broken, ceramic dates tend to he later

" Bven f we discount the ceramic identifications for
those items no 1onger in the collestion, and use onl'j the items
present in either provenienced or unprovenience& ]:mgs, the

mean ceramic date would change by only months, to 1782.0.

&8

House may indicate that we have Pushecl the terminal
date of occupation too far into the nineteenth century,

Althougl'l it seems unlilze]y that William
Heywarcl, Jr. moved out of Old House hefore his death,
it is possible that the last five to ten yeats of his Life
resulted in few, if any, major c]:tanges to or
improvements in the mansion. Old House may, in

other words, have entered a petiod of stagnation by
perhaps 1835.
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If nothing else, the 1782 mean ceramic date
suggests that much of the refuse at Old House was
deposited during or shortly after the life of Daniel
Heyward. This likely means that while others continued
]Jv-mg in the house and operating the plan‘l:aﬁon, the
level of activity declined after Daniel's death in 1777.

We must not, lnowever, be lured into Leliem'.ng
that once William Heyward, Jr. died the site went vacant
and quiclzly fell into clistepair. Although we haven't yet
been able to determine how the

Nevertheless, there are some clisagreemen’cs.
For exa.mple, the architectural remains are s]jg}ltly lugl'l
W}:ry? Per}mps they reflect the expansion of Old House
in the nineteenth century. The early peggecl
construction would have contributed a much lower
percentagde of architectural remains, but the expansion
and/or repair of the house increased the quantity of
rernains, especially nails, to the point where this artifact

group is somewhat swollen.

As a result, the remaining

property passexl from Heywa:d hands to - categories of furniture, arms, tobacco,
James Bolan }J}V 1860, the ceramics tell Takle 7. clot]:ing, personal, and even activities
us a little bit about the late antebellum The Artifact Pattern at Old are somewhat Proporl:iona.uy lower than
activities on the site. In particular ) House they mig}]’c be otherwise, We also can’t
there is a maker's mark on the back of Cromp % rule out that some of these remains,
a whiteware ceramic recovered from the Kitchen 62.12 genera]]y small and difficult to coﬂecl:,
house ruins which tells us an intriguing | Architecture 36.00 might have been overlooked during the
story. The mark is from James Fumiture 073 excavations in the 1960s. We hLave

Edwards & Son, used between 1851 Arms

and 1882 (Godden 1964:230). Tobacco
Somecne acquired some additional Clotl:ing
whiteware for use at Old House after Perscnal

William Haywz.r&’s death in 1845. Activities
Perhaps it was Bolan, perhaps it was

0.02 also offered some explanaﬁons for the
0.39 low numbers found in some categories
0.06 — for example the use of snuff rather
0.01 than smoking tobacco with the
0.67 reduction in pipe sterns and bowls

another Heyward who lived at Old

House for only a {ew years — at this point we can’t be
certain. But the single piece of pottery does suggest that
the site remained occupied, at least occasionaﬂy, and at-
least for five or so years after William's death.

Looldnp’ at the Artifact Pattern

Early in our discussions we mentioned that
South’s artifact groups could be examined to llelp us
better understand the differences in the proportions of
the different types of artifacts present at sites.

Table 7 illustrates the astifact pattern
identified from Old House, besed on the Chaxleston
Museum excavations. This patten closely resembles
what has been identified for British domestic sites
duzing the eighteenth century and isn't too far removed
from the townhouse proﬁle, characteristic of rela’tively
lﬁgh status planters' residences develope& from
downtown Charleston, South Carolina. Not surpnsmgly
the pattern bears virtua]ly no resemblance to either of
the slave patterns.

At Old House the porcelaius
account for about 6% of the cexamics, clea:ly less than
we see at eighteerth century plantations being operated
as country seats, but per]:laps a little more than we
migh’c expect at a plantation of a small owner. And
when the Porcelains are combined with the transfer
printed wares they still account for just under 10% of
the ceramics — still far less than would be expected at
an urban town house of 2 wealt]:ly planter.

In spite of this the coramics aren’t those of a
lowly farmer. Once we make an allowance for the
teawares, flatwares dominate the collection. Transfer
prints and hand pain’cecl wares are far more prevalen’t
than less expensive annular, ca]:la, and etlgecl wares.

Just as we see relatively few porcelains, we also
see little tableglass (as a percent of the Kitchen Group).
While present, it was not available in lavish quantities.
Moreover, we see very little ta]:]eg}.ass intended for use
with wines and other alcohols.
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Reconstmcting Heyward's Life

The picture that emerges from the previous
discussion is one that suggests Daniel Heyward not only
understood, but appreciated the “finer” things in life.
He pa.rl:icipa.tecl in the tea ceremony and set his table
with some of the finest hand pa:'n’r.ed overgla.ze&
porcelains available. He understood fine dining and
purc]mse& leaded crystal tumblers. Althoug}: he may
" Lavebeena teetoi:aler, he had stemmed ware and at least
a rudimentary wine cellar. His table included serving
pla.tters, pi'tc]:ers, and ﬁnger bowls. Yet at the same time
his everyr:]ay wares were utilitarian s]ipwa.re.

He appears not to have smoked tobacco,
al’c]:mugh he m.ig]:d: have use snuff. If so, he was
participating in a ritualized event as complex as the tea
ceremony. And yet we see no evidence for any speci%l
clothing or accoutrernents. Nor does the a.rc}meologidal
record reveal any evidence of Irngla statug personal gooc]s.

In other words, there seem to be a number of
contradictions — ease with wealth, quiclzness to accept
current £a.shion.s, but yet no real evidence of
ostentatious display or conspicuous consumption, While
this may reflect Heyward's character, we must remember
that we are seeing only one, limited aspect of his life.
What we see in the archaeological record may alse
reflect his view of the pian’caﬁon. Everythm.g suggests
that Old House was first, and per]naps foremost, a
wotking plantation. He seems to have foregone politics
not because it was dishonorable or because he was
uninterested, but because it would take him away from
his plantation (ke took political positions when they
allowed him to remain close to home and tend his rice
and slaves).

In other words, Daniel Heyward seems to have
created the world around him to suit his needs. He
'mteg:atecl the bits of gentility and social status which

were possijnle without too greatl'y altering or a.rljusl:ing .

his focus on the efficiency and pro&uctivity of his

plantation. Where convenient he added comforts, but
where they m;ight distract from his goal, or mig]nt
overextend his zeach or require bim to do less at his
planta.tion, he seems to have resisted.

Whether Daniel Heyward was an uncommon
man cant be speculated on using only the
archaeologioal evi&ence, although he does seem to be
unusual in comparison with other planters who seem
either to have eas:ly enjoye& their wealth or to have had
little wealth to enjoy.

There seems little doubt that Heywaxd passed
on to his son William at least his appreciation for the
finer tl:ungs The a.tc]iaeological record reveals no
indication of any decline in the wealth or prosperity
during William tenure following Daniel. What can't be
determined is whether William’s operation continued to
generate income or whether his status was largely
dependent on the accrued wealth of his fether's estate.
Because we see no clear indication of economic decline
even during the tenure of William Heyward's son,
Wi]liam, ]r., we can assume that the planta’cion
continued to be opera'l:ecl proﬁta]:ly. What is trou]:uling,
of course, is w]:-.y the plantaﬁou left the family s}mrtly
after the death of William Heywa.rd, Je Tt is lilzely that
the lands were ]Jeginnj.ng to wear out, and the mansion
almost certainly needed Tepair, but would these events
have been adequate to encourage William's descendants
to sell the family seat?

Reconstmcting Hengar&’s Mansion

Old House was Likely built ca. 1740, shortly
before Heyward brought his new wife to live on what was
South Carolina’s frontier at the time. Moreover, this
comstruction phase was on the heals of South Carolina’s
economic boom and immed.ia.tely before an economic
slow-down in the 1740s. Shelley Smith observes that
the second quarter of the eighteen’ch century was a
penod of great construction as p]anters sougl:l’c not only
to &isplay their wealt]:l, but also their new, but as she

s .
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1740 to ca. 1810. .

(Smith 1999:380).

These investigations continue to suggest
that Old House saw at least two building periods
— with the initial ca. 1740 small core being
expanded and enla.rgecl sometime around the turn
of the century. This pattern is a very common
feature along the Carolina low country. As
pla.nters became more successhul t]:ley expandecl
their mansions, conspicuously &isplayiug their
wealth and success. At Daniel Heyward's
Plantaﬁon it seems the origi ransion was
modest, being the rear block measuring about 53
Ly 20 feet. The basement of this original house

was pave& in brick and was perl—xaps used as a

Figure 17. Growth of the Heyward mansion at Old House from ca. ing kitchen or for storage, while above were

per}\aps two stories. The first floor would have
been used for the little formal entertaining and

ohserves, well-defined, sepse of id.entity (Smith
1999:107). She argues that plantation houses built
du.r'mg this early perio& follow four general patterns:
compactness of pIa.u and massing, expansion in size,
greater acceptance of wood as the primary claddiug
material, and the first evidence for formal sites.

The Hey‘wa:& house seems to generaﬂy fulfill
these expectations. In fact, itis pel:laa.ps onl'y'l:]:e limited
evidence of any formal gartlen or kn&swpe which
deviates from this scenario. Even ]Jere, ]:Lowevei:, there
seems to be evidence that the Heywﬁrcl estate was
established along fairly rigid, symmetrical lines. The
house, flanked lay cemetery and a ﬂan]zer, and the
Litchen at the fax side. The crientation seems linear and
intentional. As Smith observes, this fascination with
geometrical arrangements continued long after English
tastes moved to a more natural lm&soape Petl'taps it
was critical for the Southern gentry to maintain more
control over the landscape. Tt is Smith that suggests:

Roger Kenne&y has advanced a
brilliant (1{ i.rnpossil)le to prove)
thesis that the emp]:la.sis on order,
lm.rmony, decorum and openness in
pIan‘l:a.tion society architecture and
la.n&scape was an atternpt to &isgujse
the pervagive insecurity, anxiety and
dread of slavery and insurrecton
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dining undertaken by Daniel Heyward, while
above would have been the bed chambers.

Alt‘nough this ]nouse BEETNS modea’c, it
contained delft tiles and was Likely well appointed for its
time. Based Dn‘the El.rchaeologica.[ evidence it must have
been almost entirely of pegged construction.

When the mansion wes expan&e&,.perhaps ca.

1810, the house was extended to the south, with the
origi.nal core Becoming the back of the house. The
rectangular shape was modified to procluce a*T" plan
with per]naps a tln-oug]:. hall with rooms off either side
(Figure 17). It was perhaps during this'addition when
a large quantity of nineteenth century architectural
hardware was added: brads and cut nai]s, plaster, maxue
tile, meortise locl::s, and butt hi.nges.

The resulting house would have been far larger
and elmost certainly more impressive, but it would likely
remind most of us to&ay of a farm house (Figure 18).
The floor plau does not suggdest to us a parl:icularly
palatial house and it bore no resemblance to “Tara.” Yet
the Ha‘yward Old House was hleely a very classic low
country p]a.utaﬁon.

Summary

This p‘rcvicles a brief overview of the
Charleston Museum's excavations at Daniel Heyward's
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Old House. Alt]aoug}: much of their speculation has
proven to be wrong, they must be forgiven — their work
was on the cutting e&ge of p1anta‘l:ion a.rcl:laeology,
conducted before Noél Hume Lega.n writing about
Colonial artifacts or Charles Fairhanks ]:vegan to tarn
his attention toward historic sites.

While we lack detailed notes, have no .

p]notogra.p]:ls, and have discovered that some collections
can no longer ]:e {ouml, the mate-na]s which remain
provicle — as this E'hJC]ty attests — an msigh&ul view
into a unique low country pIa.ntaﬁon. Had it not been
for Pau].ine Pra‘l:f:-WelaeI, Mil]:y Burton, Io]:m MiHer,
and Harry Cooler there is no question but that Old
House would have been lost entirely. Instead, at least a
small portion remains toclay. A few secrets have been
wrestled from. it, and the carlier excavations, but many
more remain. It is e site of spectacular complexity which
has the potential to teach us much about not only the
Heywarcls, but also about the operation of early Tice
planta’cions in the Carolina low country.

What we have learned of Heyward's success,
howaver, shoulcl not be allowed to overs}:m.dow what
Peter Coclanis has termed “the ehadow of a dream.” He

warns.

Just as the market was largely

IEEEXJnBilJle for the low coumtry’s rise,
it was larger reaponsil:le for the
area's later decline as well. . . . Tt is
'possilale, of course, that in the low
country, a fragile ecologica.l area with
limited  economic possibili‘tiea,
&evelopmeni: was doomed from the
start. But by establishing an
economy whose health was &epenclent
almest entire]y upon the vagaries of
international demand for
commoclities, the ]:Legemonists, in
effect, sealed the low country's fate
{Coclanis 1989:157).

Nor Shou:lcl what we have learned thas far be
allowed to overshadow what still remains to be learned.
Heywar&'s Old House contai.nec]., hesides the mansion,
a kitchen and host of additional imilaings, each with its
own story to tell. At the kitohen we mjg['xt learn the
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foods that were preparecl, loolzing at the discarded
animel bones, as well as the pollen and phytollths left in
the soil. At the flanker we might learn more about the
operation of the plantation. For example, is there
evidence that William Heyward or his son, William, Jx.
retained an overseer to manage the property? Even at
the stable we mig]nt learn more about the activities of
the African American's who tended the horses and
possi]::ly lived in the main compouncL

Beyoncl the area in pear proximity would be
the slave settlement. Per]mps this is located on the
avenue leading to Old House, but there has never been
euough investigation to determine, with certainty, where
Heyward's slaves lived. This leaves untold their story in
the success of Old House.

Expancling our attention even further, White -
Hall has never received any a.rc]::.aeologica.l attention.
What might the artifacts at this plantation tell us about
the lifeways of Daniel Heyward, Jr. or Thomas Heyward,
Jr.2 How might they compare with what we have found
at Old House? Axchaeological investigation at the
ruins of White Hall might even help to date the house's
initial eonstruction and latter additions.

So while the story at Old House 1Degins o
unfold, there remain many more opportunities to
expa.nrl our u.nderstanc].m.g of this unique fa.mily and
their contributions to South Carolina }Jiatory.
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